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Rocky Mount
Kinston
Goldsboro

Louisburg
Henderson
Raleigh
Raleigh
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DISTRICT JUDGES ADDRESS

21 WiLrLiaM Z. Woop Winston-Salem
JupsoN D. DERAMuS, JR. Winston-Salem
WiLLiaM H. FREEMAN Winston-Salem

22 RoBERT A. COLLIER, JR. Statesville
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1. Elected and took office 28 November 1984 to fill the unexpired term of Elbert S.
Peel, Jr., who died 16 October 1984.

2. Appointed 1 January 1986 to replace William T. Grist who retired 31 December
1985.

3. Appointed 1 December 1985 to replace Donald L. Smith who was appointed Resi-
dent Superior Court Judge.

vii
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ix
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Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Reidsville
Reidsville
Mount Airy
Mount Airy
Greensboro
Greensboro
High Point
High Point
High Point
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DonNaLD R. HUFFMAN (Chief)
KeNNETH W. HONEYCUTT
RoNALD W. BURRIS
MicHAEL EARLE BEALE

W. REECE SAUNDERS, JR.
ABNER ALEXANDER (Chief)
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R. KasoN KEIGER
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RoLaND HARRIS HAYES
WiLLiAM B. REINGOLDS
LESTER P. MARTIN, JR. (Chief)
ROBERT W. JOHNSON
SAMUEL ALLEN CATHEY
GEORGE THOMAS FULLER
SAMUEL L. OsBORNE (Chief)
Max F. FERREE

EDGAR GREGORY

RoBERT HOWARD LACEY (Chief)
Roy ALEXANDER LYERLY
CHARLES PHILIP GINN
LiviINGsTON VERNON (Chief)
SAMUEL McD. TATE

L. OLIvER NOBLE, JR.
Epwarp H. Bralr

DANIEL R. GREEN, JR.
JAMES E. LANNING (Chief}
L. STANLEY BrOWN
WiLLIAM G. JONES
DAPHENE L. CANTRELL
WiLLiaM H. SCARBOROUGH
T. Patrick Martus II

REesA L. HARRIS

ADDRESS

Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Salisbury
Concord
Kannapolis
Salisbury
Asheboro
Asheboro
Wadesboro
Monroe
Albemarle
Southern Pines
Rockingham
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Mocksville
Statesville
Statesville
Lexington
Wilkesboro
Wilkesboro
Wilkesboro
Newland
Banner Elk
Boone
Morganton
Morganton
Hickory

Lenoir

Hickory
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
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27A
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30

JUDGES

RoOBERT P. JOHNSTON

W. TERRY SHERRILL
MARILYN R. BISSELL
RICHARD ALEXANDER ELKINS
J. RaLpH PHILLIPS (Chief)
BERLIN H. CARPENTER, JR.
LARrY B. LANGSON

GEORGE HaMRICK (Chief)
JaMEs THOMAS BoweN III
JOoHN M. GARDNER
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TraomAs N. Hix

Loto J. GREENLEE
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ADDRESS

Charlotte
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Shelby
Lincolnton
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Arden
Asheville
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Brevard
Hendersonville
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Marion
Bryson City
Murphy
Waynesville

1. Appointed 14 February 1986 to replace Walter P. Henderson who retired 7 Jan-
uary 1986.

2. Appointed 8 January 1986 to replace Donald Lee Paschal who retired 31

December 1985.

3. Appointed Chief Judge to replace Robert L. Warren who retired 31 December

1985.

4. Appointed 1 April 1986.

5. Appointed 11 April 1986 to replace Joseph John Gatto who resigned 28 Febru-
ary 1986.

6. Appointed Chief Judge 1 January 1986 to replace William Marion Styles who re-

tired 30 December 1985.
7. Appointed 7 February 1986.

xi
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xiv
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CASES

ARGUED AND DETERMINED IN THE

SUPREME COURT

OF

NORTH CAROLINA
AT

RALEIGH

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JOHN THOMAS NOLAND, JR.

No. 1A83
(Filed 2 October 1984)

1. Criminal Law § 135.3; Constitutional Law § 63; Jury § 7.11— exclusion of
veniremen opposed to capital punishment — proper
North Carolina’s jury selection process is constitutional and the trial court
did not err by death-qualifying the jury.

2. Constitutional Law § 80; Criminal Law § 135.1— constitutionality of death pen-
alty — discretion of district attorney to seek death penalty
The defendant failed to prove that the exercise of prosecutorial discretion
undermines the constitutionality of the death penalty statute, G.S. 15A-2000,
since he did not show that the prosecutor employed an arbitrary standard in
selecting which cases to try as capital cases.

3. Criminal Law § 106; Burglary § 5.9— breaking and entering and assault — suffi-
ciency of the evidence
The State presented sufficient evidence of first-degree burglary, and de-
fendant’s motion to dismiss the charge was properly denied, where the evi-
dence showed that an occupant of the house went to the back door in response
to a knock on the window; there was no evidence that the victim invited de-
fendant inside; witnesses heard a bang and saw the victim running into the
house screaming; the glass pane in the door was broken; and that defendant
followed the victim into the house, cornered her, and shot her.

4. Criminal Law § 102.1— prosecutor reading the law to the jury —proper
The State was within the bounds of proper argument in reading the law
on amnesia to the jury since the issue was relevant and fairly presented by
the evidence; furthermore, the prosecutor's "“misquoting” of the law did not
constitute an impropriety so extreme as to require the trial judge to act ex
mero motu.
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5.

10.

11.

Criminal Law §§ 114, 120.1— first-degree murder—instruction to the jury to
determine guilt or innocence, not punishment— proper

A jury instruction which may have been requested by defendant, which
was quoted almost verbatim from the Pattern Jury Instruction on first-degree
murder, and which simply explained to the jury that their duty was to deter-
mine only the guilt or innocence of the defendant and not the punishment, did
not suggest to the jury that a finding of guilty of first-degree murder was ap-
propriate, nor did it intimate to the jury that the trial judge believed defend-
ant was guilty.

. Criminal Law §§ 102.12, 135.8— first-degree murder — sentencing — prosecutor’s

argument —aggravating factor

The trial court did not err in failing to act ex mero motu to take curative
action when a prosecutor emphasized to the jury the seriousness of an ag-
gravating factor, particularly when defense counsel had earlier attempted to
diminish the seriousness of the aggravating factor.

. Criminal Law §§ 135.8, 109.1— first-degree murder—sentencing —mitigating

factor — peremptory instruction not required

The district attorney did not act improperly in indicating to the jury that
it could determine the existence of the mitigating factor consisting of lack of
any prior criminal activity, and the trial judge did not err by failing to give a
peremptory instruction that defendant had no significant history of prior
criminal activity, when there was evidence that defendant had communicated
threats and had been convicted of that charge, that he had communicated
threats on several other occasions, and that he had at least once committed
assault on a female.

. Criminal Law § 102.12— first-degree murder —prosecutor’s argument—death

penalty a deterrent

The prosecutor's argument that the imposition of a sentence of death
would be a deterrent to future dangerous activity by defendant was not im-
proper.

. Criminal Law § 135.4— first-degree murder —sentencing issues

In a first-degree murder sentencing proceeding, the issues as framed by
the trial court were constitutionally valid and free of prejudicial error.

Criminal Law § 135.9— first-degree murder — mitigating circumstance —burden
of persuasion

The burden of persuasion as to the existence of mitigating circumstances
is on the defendant.

Criminal Law § 135.9— first-degree murder—mitigating circumstance— per-
emptory instruction not required

The trial court was not required to give a peremptory instruction on the
mitigating circumstance that “the capital felony was committed while defend-
ant was under the influence of mental or emotional disturbance” because the
evidence was conflicting. A peremptory instruction is proper only when all the
evidence, if believed, tends to show that a particular mitigating factor exists.
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12. Criminal Law § 135.9— firsi-degree murder —mitigating circumstance — jury
not required to list mitigating factors
The trial court did not err by not requiring the jury to list each mitigat-
ing factor it found on the issue sheet, although the better practice is to require
the jury to specify mitigating factors found and not found to facilitate ap-
pellate review.

13. Criminal Law § 135.4— first-degree murder —sentencing — unanimity required
in determination of mitigating factors

The trial court did not err by instructing the jury that it was required to
reach a unanimous decision in its determination of mitigating factors.

14. Criminal Law § 135.4— first-degree murder — finding in aggravation supported
by the record —no impermissible influence in sentencing

The jury's finding in aggravation was fully supported by the record, and
the death sentence was not imposed under the influence of passion, prejudice,
or any other arbitrary factor.

15. Criminal Law § 135.4— first-degree murder —death sentence not disproper-
tionate
The death sentence imposed was neither excessive nor disproportionate to
the penalty imposed in similar cases considering both the crime and the de-
fendant.

Justice ExuM dissenting as to sentence.

Justices MARTIN and FRYE join part II of this dissent.

ON appeal by defendant as a matter of right from the
judgments of Gaines, Judge, entered at the 25 October 1982
Criminal Session of Superior Court, MECKLENBURG County. In
bills of indictment, proper in form, defendant was charged with
first degree murder of Cynthia Jean Milton, with first degree
murder of Troy C. Milton, with first degree burglary of the home
of Cynthia Milton, with first degree burglary of the home of Troy
C. and Mary N. Milton, and with assault with a deadly weapon
upon Mary N. Milton with intent to kill, inflicting serious injury.
The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all five charges and
recommended the sentence of death in both murder cases. Judge
Gaines ordered the imposition of the death penalty for each
murder conviction, and imposed consecutive life sentences for
each burglary conviction and a consecutive twenty year sentence
for the assault conviction. On 22 November 1983 we granted the
defendant’s motion to bypass the Court of Appeals on the assault
conviction.
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In relevant part, the State’s evidence tended to show the
following: The defendant John Thomas Noland, Jr. was married to
Susan Milton Noland, hereinafter referred to as Susan Milton, for
nine years and nine months prior to their separation on 3 March
1981. For the last eight years of their marriage the couple resided
at 4144 S. Tryon Street in Charlotte, North Carolina, next to
Susan’s parents, Mary and Troy Milton. The defendant and Susan
had two daughters, Missy and Christy, who were ages nine and
six respectively at the time of trial.

Susan Milton testified at trial that she and the defendant
were married when she was eighteen years old. They separated
for a short period within the first year of their marriage, and
again when their oldest daughter was ten months old. Throughout
their marriage John had difficulty retaining permanent employ-
ment for extended periods of time. The couple’s final separation
was induced in part by John's striking Susan in March of 1981. At
that time Susan and the children moved into an apartment with
Susan’'s sister, Cynthia Milton, hereinafter referred to as Cindy
Milton. Three weeks later Susan and the children returned to the
Tryon Street home after John eventually moved out. During the
ensuing period of separation, John visited Susan and their
daughters at least once a week and talked on the telephone with
them frequently. Initially John constantly begged Susan to return
to him. Then, he began to make threats regarding their property.
Finally, in an effort to find peace, Susan moved with the children
to California in June 1981. There they lived with Susan’s older
sister, Dorothy Milton Gardaleic. Susan informed John by letter
where she and the children were living. For the next several
months there was ongoing telephone contact between Susan and
the children, and John. After approximately four months, Susan
and her children moved from her sister’s house into a separate
home, but did not give John the address or telephone number.
They maintained contact with him through her sister’s telephone.

Every time Susan and John talked on the telephone, he
asked her when she was coming back to Charlotte. She always
replied that she did not know. In November 1981, John began
making threats against Susan’s family. He told both Susan and
her sister Dorothy that he would kill their father, mother and
sister Cindy if Susan didn’t return to Charlotte with the children
before Christmas. He said, “I'm going to kill Cindy first because



N.C|] IN THE SUPREME COURT 5

State v. Noland

she means more to [Susan] than anything. I'm going to kill your
daddy and make your momma watch.” John further informed Su-
san that he would place a “gun between [her] daddy's eyes and
blow his head off.” Susan and the children did not return to
Charlotte.

On Friday, 5 February 1982, John telephoned Susan and gave
her another ultimatum. He told her she had two weeks to come
back to Charlotte and that, if she did not, he would kill her fami-
ly. The following day John called and told Susan that he was not
giving her two weeks or any more time. He demanded her deci-
sion immediately. When she answered that she did not want to
take the children out of school, he responded, “Well, you will
come back; you'll have to come back, because I am going to kill
your family.”

About two weeks later on Saturday, 20 February 1982, John
called Susan again. He inquired as to whether she was coming
back, to which she replied, “Not now.” He then told Susan, with
regard to his plans for her family, “I know how I'm going to do it
and when I'm going to do it, but, I'm not going to tell you when.”
Prior to this conversation, John had informed Susan that he had a
.44 magnum in the trunk of his car, which was waiting for her
when she returned. After the 20 February 1982 telephone conver-
sation with John, Susan called her mother Mary Milton, as she al-
ways did after John made threats against her family, to warn her
about John’s latest threat. The following day at approximately
7:00 p.m. Charlotte time, Susan telephoned her sister Cindy and
warned her to be very careful because of the defendant’s latest
threat.

At around 9:00 p.m. on Sunday, 21 February 1982, Cindy Mil-
ton and her two friends, Roger Campbell and Jody Renhold, were
watching television in the living room of her home at 4144 S.
Tryon Street in Charlotte, North Carolina. This house was the
same one that previously had been occupied by Cindy's sister
Susan Milton and the defendant. Upon hearing a knock on the liv-
ing room window, Cindy went to the back door to investigate.
The next sound Renhold and Campbell heard was a loud bang fol-
lowed by Cindy’s screams as she rushed into the house. With her
hands covering her face, she cried, “Oh God, no,” and ran into the
laundry room adjacent to the kitchen. A man, later identified by
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Renhold and Campbell as the defendant, John Thomas Noland,
Jr., followed Cindy into the house yelling, “I told you not to get
involved.” He followed her into the laundry room, took aim, and
shot Cindy in the back of the head as she huddled helplessly be-
hind the laundry room door. The defendant turned and entered
the living room. Renhold and Campbell stood facing the defendant
for a few seconds before scrambling for cover in other parts of
the house. The assailant departed, leaving the two witnesses un-
harmed.

Directly across a vacant lot from Cindy Milton’s house, at 418
West Peterson Drive, lived Cindy’s parents, Mary and Troy Mil-
ton. At approximately 9:00 p.m. on the day in question, Mary
Milton was in her living room writing a letter, while her husband
was in the back bedroom asleep. Mary Milton heard what sounded
like a gunshot and walked into the front bedroom to peer out the
window in the direction of her daughter Cindy's house. While
Mrs. Milton was still in the bedroom, she turned to find a man
whom she recognized and later identified as the defendant, stand-
ing in the hallway of her home. Upon seeing the defendant with a
gun in his hand, Mary Milton screamed and slammed her door
shut. She heard a gunshot coming from the room in which her
husband was sleeping. Then, as the defendant pushed her door
open, he told Mary Milton, “I told you I was going to kill all three
of you. And, I've already killed Cindy and your old man. I'm going
to get you.” The defendant shot at Mrs. Milton. She picked up a
nearby bar stool and lunged at the defendant. He fired again, this
time wounding Mary Milton who fell to the floor, rolled toward
the bed and remained very still. The defendant turned and
walked out of the house. Mrs. Milton immediately telephoned Cin-
dy’s house, and discovered from Roger Campbell that Cindy had
been shot. She called the Charlotte City Police Department.

Charlotte law enforcement officers J. L. Hughes and J. P.
Albini arrived at the Milton home simultaneously. Mary Milton
met them at the door. Her bathrobe was shredded and her right
front midsection bore extensive gun powder burns. She informed
the officers that her husband and daughter had been shot. Officer
Hughes entered the Milton home and found Troy Milton lying in
his bed dead. The forensic pathologist Dr. Hobart Wood later
determined that the cause of Mr. Milton’s death was a massive



N.C|] IN THE SUPREME COURT 7

State v. Noland

gunshot wound of the head, with entry through the left eye and
face.

While Officer Hughes investigated the Milton home, Officer
Albini proceeded to Cindy Milton’s house located on the corner.
He found Jody Renhold and Roger Campbell standing outside the
house, clutching each other and screaming hysterically. As the of-
ficer entered the back door, he noticed that the glass from the top
portion of the door had been shattered and lay in pieces on the
steps. Once inside he observed a large amount of blood and tissue
on the floor which appeared to be seeping from the laundry room.
Officer Albini looked behind the partially closed laundry room
door and discovered Cindy Milton’s body, in a kneeling position
facing the wall. Dr. Wood testified that Cindy's death resulted
from a massive gunshot wound to the head, with the point of en-
try in the back right occipital area of the head and measuring six
inches in diameter.

Before being taken to the hospital, Mary Milton informed Of-
ficer Hughes that the assailant was her ex-son-in-law John
Noland, Jr. She gave the officer a physical description of the de-
fendant as well as a description of his automobile. Renhold and
Campbell gave a similar physical description and further told Of-
ficer Albini that they believed the gunman was Cindy Milton's ex-
brother-in-law.

Within an hour after the shootings, the Charlotte City Police
received a call to investigate a suspicious vehicle parked in front
of a residence on Beam Road. As Sergeant J. R. Haston ap-
proached the Beam Road residence, he observed a car parked
crossways in the driveway. The car fit the description of defend-
ant’s car given by Mary Milton. The officer stopped his vehicle
about 25 yards away from the parked car, drew his revolver and
told the driver, who was still sitting in the car, to put his hands
out the window. The driver complied and, in response to Sergeant
Haston's request for his name, the driver stated, “John Noland.
You got me man.”

The sergeant handcuffed the defendant, placed him in the
back of the police car and read him the Miranda rights. Soon
thereafter, Mecklenburg County and Charlotte City law enforce-
ment officers arrived. The defendant was transported to the
Charlotte Law Enforcement Center.
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Mrs. Patsy Norment, who resided at the Beam Road house in
front of which defendant had parked his car, informed the officers
that at one time she observed the defendant get out of his car.
Thus, a search of the surrounding area was conducted. In the
grass approximately 12 feet in front of defendant’s car, the of-
ficers discovered a Sturm Ruger 6 shot single action revolver
chambered for a .44 magnum cartridge. A shell casing was found
on the front seat of the car. Two empty shell casings were dis-
covered by Mrs. Norment the following day and were turned over
to the police. A holster and a box of ammunition were eventually
discovered in the trunk of the car.

An examination of the gun by Roger Thompson of the Char-
lotte-Mecklenburg Crime Laboratory revealed that the cylinder
contained two live .44 caliber cartridges and one discharged .44
cartridge. In Mr. Thomas's expert opinion the gun found near the
defendant’s car was the weapon that fired the projectile removed
from the body of Troy Milton. Mr. Thomas also testified that he
examined the clothing worn by Mary Milton at the time she was
wounded, and determined that Mrs. Milton's bathrobe exhibited
two areas of gunshot damage. The left side of the robe exhibited
characteristics of a firearm being held parallel to the garment
with the muzzle in contact with it when it was discharged. The
area of damage on the mid-right abdominal area of the garment
exhibited powder and residue characteristics consistent with a
firearm held at a distance greater than contact but less than 6
inches.

At the Charlotte Law Enforcement Center, the defendant
was advised of his Miranda rights by Officer C. E. Boothe, a
homicide investigator. Defendant acknowledged that he under-
stood his rights and requested the presence of an attorney during
any further questioning by the officers. Officer Boothe testified
that later that night the defendant stated, without any prompting
or questioning from the officers, “Man I just killed two people,
man. Why are you being so nice to me?”

Through various witnesses the defendant offered evidence of
his mental and emotional condition at the time prior to and dur-
ing the shooting incidents. The defendant’s parents testified that
the defendant became very depressed and nervous subsequent to
his separation from his wife. He frequently cried or sat inside the
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house staring vacantly. Defendant began receiving treatment in
April 1981 at the Mecklenburg County Mental Health Center,
first as an outpatient. In May 1981 he was voluntarily hospitalized
and treated as an inpatient for about a week. During that hospi-
talization, the initial diagnosis was depressive neurosis. One week
after his discharge from the Mental Health Hospital, defendant’s
father committed him with an involuntary commitment petition.
An attending psychiatrist, Dr. John Humphrey, found the defend-
ant to be mentally ill and made a tentative diagnosis of borderline
personality with recurring thoughts of suicide and homicide. In
late May 1981 defendant’s condition showed little improvement.
Thus, he was involuntarily committed to the Mecklenburg Mental
Health Hospital by Chief Judge Chase Saunders of Mecklenburg
County District Court for a period not to exceed 90 days. On 10
June 1981 the defendant was unconditionally discharged from the
hospital.

Dr. Billy W. Royal, a forensic psychiatrist at Dorothea Dix
Hospital in Raleigh, North Carolina, examined the defendant sub-
sequent to his arrest and diagnosed the defendant’s condition as a
dysthymic disorder, which is also known as depressive neurosis.
Personality tests administered by Dr. Royal revealed evidence of
depression, insecurity, anxiety, and low self-esteem. According to
Dr. Royal, the defendant’s personality structure and past history
created an instability which made it impossible for the defendant
to deal with the loss of his wife and children.

With regard to the incidents of 21 February 1982, Dr. Royal
noted that the defendant John Noland was in a condition of con-
tinued distress, which had recently been heightened by the de-
fendant’s conclusion that his hope of reconciliation with his wife
and children would not be fulfilled. He became increasingly
disturbed and obsessive. Dr. Royal learned from the defendant
that on the evening of 21 February 1982 the defendant was driv-
ing his car and passed by the house that he and his family had
shared at 4144 South Tryon Street. At that time, the defendant’s
attention riveted on a swing set in the backyard. According to the
defendant, he drove up and down the road in an obsessional
trance. John Noland told Dr. Royal that he went to the door of
the house, saw movement in the house and had no recollection of
the events after that. Later, he found himself out in the car. He
felt strange and different, and realized he had a hot gun in his
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hand. He became anxious and threw the gun away. The next
thing the defendant remembered was the police talking to him.

Dr. Royal testified, with respect to John Noland's lack of
recollection of the killings, that amnesia based upon psychiatric or
psychological causes can occur when a person experiences a con-
flict of emotions. Such conflict involves activities which the nor-
mal consciousness views as an unacceptable impulse or feeling.
“And we may have a period of time either with or without activi-
ty that would be blocked out because we can’t deal with [the fact
that we have succumbed to that unacceptable behavior.]” The doc-
tor further testified that he had no opinion on the sanity of John
Thomas Noland, Jr. at the time of the offenses because, with the
reported amnesia, he had no basis for knowing whether John No-
land was psychotic. He testified, however, that there was “a sug-
gestion that he may not have known the difference” between
right and wrong.

At the end of all the evidence the jury found the defendant
guilty of two counts of first degree murder, two counts of
burglary in the first degree, and assault with a deadly weapon
with the intent to kill inflicting serious injury. Judge Gaines im-
posed consecutive life sentences for each burglary conviction and
a consecutive twenty year sentence for the assault conviction.
The defendant and the State relied on the evidence presented
during the guilt determination of the trial and did not present
any additional evidence at the sentencing hearing.

In its instructions during the sentencing hearing in each first
degree murder case, the court submitted one aggravating cir-
cumstance for the jury’s consideration: the murder for which the
defendant stands convicted was part of a course of conduct in
which the defendant engaged and which included the commission
by the defendant of other crimes of violence against another per-
son or persons. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-2000(e)11). The court also
submitted to the jury sixteen mitigating circumstances, including
three statutory mitigating circumstances. The jury found at least
one or more mitigating circumstances, without indicating which
mitigating circumstance they found, and that one aggravating cir-
cumstance existed. In each case the jury unanimously found that
the mitigating factors were outweighed by the aggravating fac-
tors beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, the jury recommended
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the imposition of the death penalty for both murders, and it was
so ordered.

Additional facts relevant to the defendant’s specific as-
signments of error will be incorporated into the opinion.

Rufus L. Edmisten, Attorney General, by Joan H. Byers,
Assistant Attorney General, for the State.

Grant Smithson and Jean B. Lawson, for the defendant ap-
pellant.

COPELAND, Justice.

Defendant brings forward numerous assignments of error'
relating to the guilt determination phase of his trial and to the
sentencing phase of his trial. After a careful consideration of
these assignments, as well as the record before us, we find no er-
ror in any of these proceedings and affirm the judgments.

_GUILT PHASE

I

[1] Defendant contends that prior to the guilt-innocence phase of
the trial, the trial court erred in “death-qualifying” the jury
because a ‘‘death-qualified” jury is allegedly prosecution prone,
i.e., more likely to convict a defendant, and thus is constitutional-
ly unacceptable. This Court has repeatedly held that North Caro-
lina’s jury selection process in first degree murder cases is
constitutional. State v. Maynard, 311 N.C. 1, 316 S.E. 2d 197
(1984). This assignment of error is overruled.

1. Defendant’s brief contains twenty-four assignments of error, four of which
defendant acknowledged in his index as abandoned. Upon reading the brief we
discovered, via inserted indications, that defendant had abandoned five additional
assignments of error. We assume that defendant also abandoned two other assign-
ments, specifically XV and XVI, since we cannot locate these numbered assign-
ments anywhere in his brief.

The defendant further complicated our duty of addressing his assignments by
addressing certain assignments out of numerical sequence and by giving in the in-
dex incorrect corresponding page numbers for some of the assignments. Such
discrepancies and errors result in confusion and an inefficient use of Court time.
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II.

[2) Defendant next assigns as error the trial court’s denial of his
pretrial motion to bar the imposition of the death penalty on the
basis that the prosecutorial discretion to seek or not to seek the
death penalty violates the defendant’s right to due process.?
The defendant contends that the death penalty was unconstitu-
tionally applied in the case sub judice due to the prosecutor’s ex-
ercise of discretion in determining that his case would be tried as
a capital case. The defendant relies on two cases, which arguably
could have factors in aggravation, in which the prosecutor in the
same judicial district in which the defendant was tried permitted
the defendants to plead guilty to second degree murder. State v.
Coy Devore (81CRS12679, Mecklenburg County) and State .
Larry Wilson (82CRS17018, Mecklenburg County).

Under the legal system of this State, the prosecutor has the
authority and duty to use his best judgment in deciding which
cases to pursue and which penalties to seek. Unless defendants
show that the prosecutor’s selectivity is systematically based on
race, religion or some other arbitrary classification, Oyler .
Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 7 L.Ed. 2d 446 (1962), the fact that one case
possesses a strong fact situation which would justify seeking the
death penalty, while another case does not, does not constitute a
constitutional violation.

The United States Supreme Court, in Gregg v. Georgia, 428
U.S. 153, 49 L.Ed. 2d 859 (1976) and Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S.
242, 49 L.Ed. 2d 913 (1976), rejected the argument that prosecu-
torial discretion invalidated the death penalty statutes because it
allowed impermissible discretion. The fact that discretionary
stages in the legal process exist, does not, by itself, show that the
death penalty is capriciously imposed. The arbitrary and capri-
cious imposition of the death penalty with which we are con-
cerned occurs only when the punishing authority operates with-
out any guidance.

2. Although defendant brought this motion prior to the empaneling of the jury,
the trial court declined to rule on this motion until the close of the guilt-innocence
phase. At that time, the trial judge denied defendant’s motion, but agreed to allow
the defendant to present evidence in support of the motion at the end of the
sentencing phase of the trial.
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Thus, since the defendant has not shown that the prosecutor
employed an arbitrary standard in selecting which cases are tried
as capital cases, he has failed to prove that the exercise of prose-
cutorial discretion in any way undermines the constitutionality of
our death penalty statute, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-2000. This as-
signment is without merit.

III.

[3] The defendant contends that the trial court erred by failing
to dismiss the charge of first degree burglary at the home of Cyn-
thia Milton. At the close of the State’s evidence, defendant moved
to dismiss on the above charge. The trial court denied the motion.
Defense counsel renewed the motion at the end of all the evi-
dence, and the trial court again denied the motion. Although the
defendant’s counsel on appeal excepts only to the denial of the
motion made at the close of the State’s evidence, instead of on
the denial of the motion made at the close of all the evidence as
mandated by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15-173, we shall nevertheless re-
view the merits of this assignment of error. State v. Leonard, 300
N.C. 223, 266 S.E. 2d 631 {1980).

First degree burglary is the breaking and entering during
the nighttime of an occupied dwelling with the intent to commit a
felony therein. State v. Simpson, 299 N.C. 377, 261 S.E. 2d 661
(1980). The defendant contends that the evidence was not suffi-
cient to support the element of a breaking, either actual or con-
structive. The defendant does not question the sufficiency of the
evidence with regard to the remaining elements of first degree
burglary. A breaking, as it pertains to the crime of burglary,
“constitutes any act of force, however slight, ‘employed to effect
an entrance through any usual or unusual place of ingress,
whether open, partly open, or closed.”” State v. Jolly, 297 N.C.
121, 127-128, 254 S.E. 2d 1, 56 (1979); see State v. Myrick, 306
N.C. 110, 291 S.E. 2d 577 (1982).

The evidence reveals that Cindy Milton walked to her back
door in response to a knock on the window. There was no evi-
dence that the victim invited the defendant inside. The witnesses
testified that they heard a bang and saw Cindy running into the
house, screaming. The glass pane in the back door was broken.
The defendant followed Cindy into the house, cornered her in the
laundry room, and shot her. There was substantial evidence from
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which the jury could infer that defendant entered the house with
force and without consent.

When given the benefit of the reasonable inferences drawn
from this evidence, we believe the State presented sufficient evi-
dence of a breaking, as well as the other elements of first degree
burglary. Thus, the defendant’s motion to dismiss the charge of
first degree burglary was properly denied.

Iv.

[4] In his next assignment of error, defendant argues that the
district attorney during closing arguments improperly and preju-
dicially read to the jury the law concerning “amnesia” found in
State v. Caddell, 287 N.C. 266, 215 S.E. 2d 348 (1975). Defendant
claims that this reading denigrated and downplayed his defense of
insanity, by convincing the jury to totally disregard the evidence
in support of his defense of not guilty by reason of insanity. We
find this assignment of error meritless.

During closing argument in the guilt-innocence stage, the
prosecutor read the following to the jury:

Amnesia is rare. More frequently the accused, remembering
full well what he’s done, alleges amnesia in false defense. He
is a malingerer . . . Failure to remember later, when accused,
is in itself no proof of the mental condition when the crime
was performed.

The precise language on amnesia in Caddell appears as follows:

“Amnesia, loss of memory, may lead to crimes entirely
unknown to the culprit at a later date. That is rare. More fre-
quently, the accused, remembering full well what he has
done, alleges amnesia in false defense. He is a malingerer. To
prove his innocence or guilt may be most difficult . . . Failure
to remember later, when accused, is in itself no proof of the
mental condition when crime was performed.”

Id. at 286, 215 S.E. 2d at 361.

The defendant did not object to the remarks of which he now
complains. Ordinarily, defense counsel must object to the prose-
cuting attorney’s jury argument prior to the verdict in order to
avoid waiving the alleged error for appellate review. State wv.
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Brock, 305 N.C. 532, 290 S.E. 2d 566 (1982). In Brock, however, we
noted that:

An exception to this rule is found in capital cases where,
because of the severity of the death sentence, this court will
review alleged improprieties in the prosecutor’s jury argu-
ment despite defendant’s failure to timely object. State v.
Johnson, 298 N.C. 355, 259 S.E. 2d 752 (1979). However, even
in death cases the impropriety must be extreme for this
court to find that the trial judge abused his discretion in not
recoghizing and correcting ex mero motu an argument that
defense counse] failed to find prejudicial when he heard it.

Id. at 537, 290 S.E. 2d at 570.

In the case sub judice the evidence revealed that the defend-
ant claimed amnesia about the shootings. Yet, according to the
testimony of certain law enforcement officers, shortly after the
killings the defendant made comments which indicated that he
was well aware of his criminal actions. The examining psychia-
trist was unable to form an opinion as to Noland’s ability to know
the difference between right and wrong due to the claimed am-
nesia; nor was the doctor able to determine whether the amnesia
was in all actuality real.

The crux of the defendant’s complaint is that because his
defense to the murder charges was insanity, the reading of the
quoted material was irrelevant to the issues before the jury. We
disagree. The defendant introduced evidence at trial concerning
his alleged “amnesia.” By so doing, the issue of amnesia became
relevant, particularly in terms of its possible fabrication and its
effect on the underlying insanity defense. Defendant concedes
that the well established law in North Carolina allows counsel the
right to argue to the jury the law and the facts in evidence and
all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom. State v. Pinch,
306 N.C. 1, 292 S.E. 2d 208, cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1056 (1982), reh.
denied, 459 U.S. 1189 (1983).

We believe the State was well within the bounds of proper
argument in reading the law on amnesia to the jury since the is-
sue was relevant and fairly presented by the evidence. Further-
more, the prosecutor’s “misquoting” of Caddell did not constitute
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an impropriety so extreme as to require the trial judge to act ex
mero motu. The assignment of error is overruled.

V.

[5] The trial judge, in his instructions to the jury during the
guilt-innocence phase, informed the jury that it might possibly
serve as the triers of fact in the sentencing phase. The judge in-
structed as follows:

Now, Members of the jury, in the event that the defend-
ant in this case is convicted of murder in the first degree, I
instruct you that the Court will conduct a sentencing pro-
ceeding to determine whether the defendant shall be sen-
tenced to death or life imprisonment. This proceeding may be
conducted before you or another jury. It will be conducted, ¢f
necessary, as soon as practical after any verdict of guilty of
first degree murder is returned. (Emphasis added.)

Defendant asserts that this “instruction constituted an im-
proper expression of opinion by the [cJourt on the evidence,” since
the trial judge, in essence, told the jury that the evidence pre-
sented warranted verdicts of guilty. Although the defendant now
maintains that this instruction violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-180
(repealed in 1977 and replaced by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1232), and
caused irreparable prejudice, he failed to object at trial. In fact,
the record seems to indicate that the instruction was requested
by the defendant since, according to N.C.P.I.—Crim. 206.10 (Re-
placement May 1980), the court shall give this instruction upon
request by a party. The transcript discloses the following subse-
quent to the reading of the instruction in question:

THE COURT: Mr. Mercer, is that the instruction now that you
wanted?

MR. MERCER: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: All right.

Furthermore, following the above portion of the jury instruec-
tions, the trial judge also informed the jurors that:

If that time comes, you will receive separate sentencing
instructions. However, at this time, your only concern is to
determine whether the guilty [sic] of the defendant — whether
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the defendant is guilty of the crimes charged; or, any lesser
included offenses, about which you were instructed.

The instruction, quoted almost verbatim from the Pattern
Jury Instruction on first degree murder, N.C.P.I.—Crim. 206.10
(Replacement May 1980), simply explains to the jury that their
duty at this stage is to determine only the guilt or innocence of
the defendant, and not the punishment. We do not believe that
the instruction suggested to the jury that a finding of guilty of
first degree murder was appropriate nor do we find that it in-
timates to the jury that the trial judge believed the defendant
was guilty. The trial judge was merely explaining the legal proc-
ess to the jurors, as it pertained to their duty. Accordingly, we
reject defendant’s contention and hold that the instruction was
properly given.

SENTENCING PHASE

VI.

[6] In his next assignment of error, defendant contends that the
district attorney in his argument to the jury improperly elevated
the statutory aggravating factor N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-2000(e)(11).
This aggravating circumstance provides that:

{11) The murder for which the defendant stands convicted
was part of a course of conduct in which the defendant
engaged and which included the commission by the de-
fendant of other crimes of violence against another per-
SON Or persons.

The district attorney argued in detail to the jury the legal
importance of the mitigating factors and the single submitted
statutory aggravating factor. The portion of his argument in ques-
tion is as follows:

The second question, “Does the aggravating factor war-
rant the death penalty”?

As I've told you, under the statutory scheme, it’s not
necessary for the State to have more than one aggravating
factor in order to be able to request the jury to return a ver-
dict of the death penalty. The presence of any one or more of
those aggravating factors, if in your mind, if you decide it is
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serious enough to warrant the imposition of the death penal-
ty, is sufficient for you to find that.

I would argue to you that this aggravating factor is
perhaps the most serious of any of them. And, I would argue
to you that the fact that this man killed two people and tried
to kill another, seriously wounding her, is sufficiently seri-
ous to warrant the imposition of the death penalty. I don’t
know of any other case—I can’t imagine any other case that
can be more serious. And, I would argue to you that the
answer to that question is, “Yes.”

Defendant argues that the district attorney improperly injected
his personal beliefs concerning the applicable law, by asserting
his opinion that greater weight should be given to this factor in
aggravation. Defendant lodged no objection during this portion of
the prosecutor’s argument. Because we do not believe that these
remarks constituted error, the trial judge correctly refrained
from taking curative action ex mero motu.

Prosecutors may not misstate the law or inject personal opin-
ion concerning a legal principle. State v. Maynard, 311 N.C. 1, 316
S.E. 2d 197. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-2000 does not apportion or
assign any particular weight to be afforded the listed mitigating
and aggravating factors for the sentencer’s consideration. The law
assigns no particular value or weight to any of the factors for the
jury’s consideration. State v. McDougall, 308 N.C. 1, 301 S.E. 2d
308, cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 78 L.Ed. 2d 173 (1983).

Although the capital sentencing statute does not assign the
relative value to be given to each circumstance, certainly at-
torneys should be allowed to discuss the merits of each of the fac-
tors presented and their seriousness or lack thereof. State wv.
Kirkley, 308 N.C. 196, 302 S.E. 2d 144 (1983) (jury argument re-
garding weight to be given mitigating factors); see State v. Craig,
308 N.C. 446, 302 S.E. 2d 740, cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 78 L.Ed.
2d 247 (1983). Here, defense counsel in his jury argument em-
phasized to the jury that out of eleven statutory aggravating fac-
tors the evidence supported only one. He further attempted, as
the law permits him, to diminish the seriousness of that one ag-
gravating factor. The district attorney responded to what he
called the defense counsel’s indication that “the State intend[ed]
to rely on . . . a technical [aggravating factor],” and attempted to
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bolster the aggravating factor. We perceive the prosecutor’s
statement, “I would argue to you,” not as an injection of personal
opinion but as a contention to be considered by the jury. We hold
that the district attorney’s statement that “this aggravating fac-
tor is perhaps the most serious of any of them” was not improper,
particularly when viewed in light of defense counsel's earlier
argument.

VIL.

[7]1 The defendant combines two assignments of error, first con-
tending that the district attorney improperly indicated to the
jury that it could determine the existence of the mitigating fac-
tor, the lack of any prior criminal activity, and second that the
trial judge erred in his instructions concerning that mitigating
factor. Defendant did not object at trial to the prosecutor’s
remark or to the trial judge’s instructions.

Subsequent to reminding the jury that the evidence indicated
the defendant pled guilty to communicating threats, the district
attorney stated to the jury, “you make your decision about
whether you think his lack of any prior criminal history is a
mitigating factor.” Contrary to defendant’s assertions, we do not
believe this statement constitutes error. “[T]he weight a mit-
igating circumstance is assigned is entirely for the jury to decide.
It follows that counsel is entitled to argue what weight cir-
cumstances should ultimately be assigned.” State v. Craig, 308
N.C. 446, 460, 302 S.E. 2d 740, 749. Here, the prosecutor’s remark
clearly goes to the weight the jury should attach to this mit-
igating factor.

Additionally, the defendant argues that the trial judge should
have given a peremptory instruction to the jury that the defend-
ant had no significant history of prior criminal activity. Instead,
the trial court simply instructed that:

Mitigating Circumstance No. 1, first you should consider
whether or not the defendant, John Thomas Noland, had a
significant history of prior criminal activity. The mitigating
circumstance listed is that,

“The defendant had no significant history of prior
criminal activity.”
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You can consider this.

Significant means important or notable. Whether any
history of prior criminal activities is sufficient is for you to
determine from all the facts and circumstances that you find
from the evidence. However, you should not determine
whether it is significant only on the basis of the number of
convictions, if any, in the defendant’s record. Rather, you
should consider the nature and quality of the defendant’s
history, if any, in determining whether it is significant.

You would find this mitigating circumstance if you find
that any criminal activity presented to you during the course
of this trial is not significant and that this is not a significant
history of prior criminal activity that the defendant—of the
defendant’s prior criminal history.

Now Members of the jury, in this regard, Susan Milton
offered evidence for the State, during the course of the trial
and by way of cross-examination, testified that John Thomas
Noland, Jr., had not been in any trouble with the law while
they were married. He did plead guilty to communicating
threats to her family in 1981 and paid the Court costs. Com-
municating threats is a violation of G.S. 14-277.1; and, it is a
misedmeanor {sic].

In addition to that, John Thomas Noland’s mother, Nan-
ny Noland, testified that her son had never been in any trou-
ble prior to these incidents.

Where all the evidence in a case, if believed, tends to show

that a particular mitigating factor exists, a peremptory instruc-
tion is proper. State v. Johnson, 298 N.C. 47, 257 S.E. 2d 597
(1979). However, a peremptory instruction is inappropriate when
the evidence surrounding that issue is conflicting. State v. Smith,
305 N.C. 691, 292 S.E. 2d 264, cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 74 L.Ed.
2d 622 (1982).

The mitigating circumstance with which we are concerned,

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-2000(f{1), does not speak in terms of
“criminal convictions,” but rather in terms of “criminal activity.”
Thus this subsection does not necessarily restrict the jury’s con-
sideration to only prior convictions. See State ». Stokes, 308 N.C.
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634, 304 S.E. 2d 184 (1983). The evidence reveals, as the trial
court noted, that the defendant communicated threats and was
convicted of that charge. The defendant’s former wife testified
that on several other occasions defendant communicated threats
and at least once committed an assault on a female. Clearly this
constituted some evidence of criminal activity. Whether this evi-
dence was sufficient to constitute significant history of criminal
activity, thereby precluding a finding of this factor, was for the
jury to decide. The assignment of error is overruled.

VIIIL.

[8] Defendant’s next contention is that the prosecutor improper-
ly and prejudicially argued that the imposition of a sentence of
death would be a deterrent to future dangerous activity by the
defendant. The prosecutor argued:

You all are going to have to make a decision. We're trying to
run a society. I think we all some times take our society for
granted. We see the televisions and computers and the cars
and all the wonderful things we have, and I think we tend to
forget that society is a gunshot away, or the lack of society is
a gunshot away and maybe three meals away.

And I think we build a society every day in what we all do.
And, if all the people in this room were starting out to build
a society, tomorrow, and, we all depended on each other for
the conduct of our society and our survival as a civilization,
and, John Noland was among us, having killed his father-in-
law and having killed his sister-in-law, two entirely innocent
people. And we were trying to decide the rules or how we
were going to conduct our society, and whether we were go-
ing to be safe in our beds, I think the decision would be the
death penalty.

Defendant failed to object at trial to this alleged improper
argument. We do not, in any way, find these particular remarks
improper, and they certainly do not amount to such gross im-
propriety as to require the trial judge to act ex mero motu. See
State v. Boyd, 311 N.C. 408, --- S.E. 2d --- (8/28/84). This assign-
ment of error is without merit.
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IX.

[9] Defendant’s next contention is that the trial court’s framing
of the sentencing issues unconstitutionally precluded the jury
from considering the mitigating circumstances at each appropri-
ate issue stage of the sentencing determination process. Defend-
ant did not object at trial to these issues. The issues in the case
sub judice are substantially the same as those repeatedly ap-
proved by this Court. See e.g. State v. Oliver and Moore, 309 N.C.
326, 307 S.E. 2d 304 (1983). The issues are constitutionally valid
and free of prejudicial error. The assignment of error is over-
ruled.

X.

[10] Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in its in-
structions to the jury during the sentencing phase by placing on
the defendant the burden of persuasion by a preponderance of the
evidence as to the existence of mitigating circumstances. Defend-
ant did not object at trial. Furthermore, this Court has repeatedly
ruled that the burden of persuasion as to the existence of
mitigating circumstances is on the defendant. See State v. May-
nard, 311 N.C. 1, 316 S.E. 2d 197. We overrule this assignment of
error.

XIL

[11] In his next assignment of error the defendant argues that
the trial court committed prejudicial error in its jury instructions
concerning the mitigating circumstance set out in N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 15A-2000(f)(2) that “the capital felony was committed while the
defendant was under the influence of mental or emotional disturb-
ance,” because the trial court did not peremptorily charge the
jury that this circumstance existed. Defendant made no request
at trial for such an instruction.

As discussed earlier in this opinion, a peremptory instruction
is proper only when all the evidence, if believed, tends to show
that a particular mitigating factor exists. We disagree with the
defendant’s contention that all the evidence in this case tended to
show that he was under the influence of a mental or emotional
disturbance. The evidence was conflicting.

Evidence of defendant’s emotional state subsequent to his
separation from his wife was adequately presented through the
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testimony of witnesses for the defendant. The anguish and de-
spair a marital separation may cause is not disputed. Further-
more the impact of such an event may vary according to the per-
son. It appears from the medical testimony that the effect of
marital separation would be more profound on a person diagnosed
as suffering from a borderline personality disorder with nar-
cissistic features. Defendant’s evidence also revealed that he was
involuntarily committed in May 1981, treated for his problems,
and thereafter released.

The State offered evidence which tended to contradict the
defendant’s contention that he was under a mental disturbance
during the occurrence of the criminal acts. The defendant bought
the pistol, determined to be the murder weapon, from an ac-
quaintance two days prior to the shootings. He assured the per-
son from whom he purchased the gun that he did not plan to
shoot anyone. The acquaintance’s testimony disclosed no evidence
of defendant’s being in an emotional state at that time.

Additional evidence presented by the State tended to show
that the defendant killed and wounded his victims in the exact
order and manner in which he threatened. Nothing in the testi-
mony of the witnesses to the killing suggested that the defendant
appeared to be acting under a mental disturbance. The emotion
that he displayed was anger. The defendant was confronted by
law enforcement officers within an hour of the shootings. The of-
ficers noticed nothing peculiar about his eyes, his speech, or his
walk. He commented that he knew he had killed two people.
Nothing in his actions led the officers to believe that he was not
in control of his faculties.

The State argues that its evidence “showed the defendant go-
ing through a detailed series of steps. . . . The events before, dur-
ing, and after the killing suggested deliberation, not the frenzied
behavior of an emotionally disturbed person.” In light of all the
evidence presented, a peremptory instruction would have been
improper in this instance. Defendant’s mental state was appropri-
ately considered and determined by the jury.

XIIL

[12] Defendant next argues that the trial court erred by not re-
quiring the jury to list each mitigating factor it found on the issue
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sheet. We addressed this same issue in State v. Pinch, 306 N.C. 1,
292 S.E. 2d 203 and State v. Rook, 304 N.C. 201, 283 S.E. 2d 732
(1981), and found no merit in this contention. We reiterate that
although we find no such requirement in our statutes, the better
practice is to require the jury to specify mitigating factors found
and not found to facilitate appellate review. This assignment of
error is overruled.

XIII.

[13] In his final assignment of error, defendant contends that the
trial court erred in instructing the jury that it was required to
reach a unanimous decision in its determination of mitigating fac-
tors. Defendant maintains that required unanimity unconstitu-
tionally restricts the jury from a full opportunity to consider
mitigating circumstances. Defendant failed to object at trial. We
have ruled on this precise question adversely to the defendant’s
position. In State v. Kirkley, 308 N.C. 196, 302 S.E. 2d 144, we
found this jury unanimity instruction to be constitutional and in
accord with the requirements of Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 57
L.Ed. 2d 973 (1978) and Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 71
L.Ed. 2d 1 (1982). We reaffirm our holding in Kirkley and, thus,
overrule defendant’s assignment of error on this issue.

PROPORTIONALITY

[14] After a thorough review of the transcript, record on appeal
and the briefs of the parties, we find that the record fully sup-
ports the jury's written finding in aggravation. We further find
that defendant’s death sentence was not imposed under the in-
fluence of passion, prejudice or any other arbitrary factor and
that the transcript and record are devoid of any indication that
such impermissible influences were a factor in sentencing.

[15] Finally we have determined that the death sentence im-
posed is neither excessive nor disproportionate to the penalty
imposed in similar cases considering both the crime and the de-
fendant. See State v. Williams, 308 N.C. 47, 301 S.E. 2d 335.

We recently upheld the death penalty in State v. Boyd, 311
N.C. 408, --- S.E. 2d --- (8/28/84), a case not dissimilar from the
case sub judice in that the murder evolved from the separation of
the defendant from a woman he purportedly loved; the defendant
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was apparently unable to cope with the separation; prior to the
murder, the defendant threatened to kill the victim; and the
murder was carefully planned and executed and committed overt-
ly. See State v. Martin, 303 N.C. 246, 278 S.E. 2d 214, cert.
denied, 454 U.S. 933, reh. denied, 454 U.S. 1117 (1981).

In addition, we have affirmed the death penalty in numerous
cases involving death or serious injury to one or more people
other than the murder victim. See State v. McDougall, 308 N.C. 1,
301 S.E. 2d 308; State v. Pinch, 306 N.C. 1, 292 S.E. 2d 203; State
v. Hutchins, 303 N.C. 321, 279 S.E. 2d 788 (1981); State v. Barfield,
298 N.C. 306, 259 S.E. 2d 510 (1979), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 907,
reh. denied, 448 U.S. 918 (1980). State v. McDowell, 301 N.C. 279,
271 S.E. 2d 286 (1980), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 1025, reh. denied, 451
U.S. 1012 (1981); see also, State v. Gardner, 311 N.C. 489, --- S.E.
24 --- (8/28/84). Considering the circumstances surrounding the
crimes in this case, together with those in similar cases, we hold
that the penalty of death is neither excessive nor dispropor-
tionate.

No error.

Justice EXUM dissenting as to sentence.

I believe the evidence here required the trial court to in-
struct the jury peremptorily that if they believed what all the
evidence tended to show they should find as mitigating eir-
cumstances (1) the capital felony was committed while defendant
was under the influence of a mental or emotional disturbance,
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-2000(f(2), and (2) defendant has no signifi-
cant history of prior criminal activity, id. § (f{1). I dissent from so
much of the majority opinion as finds no error in the judge’s
failure to so instruct. I also believe the death sentence under the
circumstances of this case is excessive and disproportionate when
compared to sentences in other similar cases. I dissent, therefore,
from so much of the majority’s opinion which holds to the con-
trary. My vote in the case is to remand the matter for the imposi-
tion of life imprisonment and, failing that, to remand for a new
sentencing hearing.
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I

With regard to peremptory instructions on mitigating factors
in a capital case, our rule is that where “all of the evidence in the
case, if believed, tends to show that a particular mitigating cir-
cumstance does exist, the defendant is entitled to a peremptory
instruction on that circumstance.” State v. Johnson, 298 N.C. 47,
76, 257 S.E. 2d 597, 618 (1979). A peremptory instruction does not
require the jury as a matter of law to find the existence of the
circumstance. The jury is still left free to believe or disbelieve
the evidence tending to show the existence of the circumstance.
We said in State v. Johnson, id. at 75, 257 S.E. 2d at 617, with
regard to the impaired capacity mitigating circumstance:

‘When all the evidence offered suffices, if true, to establish
the controverted fact, the court may give a peremptory in-
struction—that is, if the jury find the facts to be as all the
evidence tends to show, it will answer the inquiry in an in-
dicated manner ... . A peremptory instruction does not
deprive the jury of its right to reject the evidence because of
a lack of faith in its credibility.” Chisolm v. Hall, 255 N.C. 374,
376, 121 S.E. 2d 726, 728 (1961).

A.

All evidence in the case, both from the state and defendant,
demonstrates without contradiction that these tragic killings
were the result of defendant’s mental illness exacerbated by the
loss, through separation, of his wife and children.

Defendant met Susan Milton in 1970 while she was in high
school and he, aged twenty-two, had been discharged under
honorable conditions from the Navy. They were married in 1971
when Susan Milton was eighteen; and two daughters, aged nine
and six at the time of the trial in 1982, were born of the marriage.
They separated four or five times before the final separation on 3
March 1981.

According to the state’s evidence defendant had back
surgery in December 1980 which caused him to be unemployed
until the parties’ final separation. During this time Susan Milton
was working full time and defendant tended to the house and
children. After the March 1981 separation, “it was extremely dif-
ficult for [defendant] to cope with the girls’ being gone.” Defend-
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ant called his estranged wife by telephone “on a number of occa-
sions about the kids and about [her].” On 19 June 1981, the day
after defendant’s birthday, Susan Milton and the children left to
live with her sister in California without telling defendant. During
the marriage defendant “didn’t really like to be around people
that much, too often.” He preferred to remain home with his wife
and children. Defendant also developed a particularly close rela-
tionship with his father-in-law, one of the victims, and “thought as
much, if not more, of [his father-in-law] than he did his own.”

The state’s evidence further tended to show that after the
March 1981 separation and before Susan Milton left with the
children to go to California, defendant “had almost lost control of
himself . . . .” When he was able to see the children “he would
cry a lot in front of . . . them. I don't know if it was from seeing
them or that I would say that I was not going to go back with
him to be a family again.” Defendant “was constantly begging [his
wife] to come back home and bring the kids” and never gave up
hope that his family would be together again. Defendant “was
more or less a loner. He liked just for us [the family] to be there
by ourselves; and, that was it.”

Defendant’s evidence tended to show as follows: After the
March 1981 separation he stayed briefly at the YMCA and then
moved in with his parents. At his parents’ home he “cried con-
stantly [and] kept getting worse and worse. He really loved his
kids.” His parents became concerned enough over defendant’s
emotional condition and suicidal tendencies that they arranged for
him to consult with the Mecklenburg Mental Health Center
where, after being hospitalized for several weeks, he lost “about
40 pounds.” Defendant and his estranged wife continued, after she
moved to California, to communicate frequently by telephone. The
telephone conversations resulted in defendant’s further emotional
upset.

Dr. Avelina Reback, a staff psychiatrist at the Mecklenburg
Mental Health Center, testified concerning defendant’s course of
treatment there. She saw defendant in April 1981 and recom-
mended ‘“partial hospitalization” at the Center. By 13 May 1981
she decided defendant needed full, in-patient hospitalization.
Defendant was suffering from depression and anti-depressant
medication was prescribed. As of 19 May 1981 defendant was
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“very depressed, despondent, withdrawn and hopeless. . . .” He
was, in the opinion of Dr. Reback, “mentally ill and dangerous.”
Dr. Reback described defendant’s behavior as follows:

At the time, he was oriented as to time, place, person
and situation; but, he was very depressed. And, his whole af-
fect, the way the patient looks when we look at them, was
very flat or bland, you know, he has no expression on his
face. And, very slow movement; his head was bowed down
and continuously wringing his hands, which showed agitation
and excited. He hardly spoke. He would not—he would not
talk spontaneously unless we asked him; and, he would only
answer in one syllables.

His thinking however was logical; but, he was so de-
pressed that it took time for him to respond when asked
questions. He was not confused; there was no looseness of
thinking; and, he was well aware of what he was saying. And,
his responses to the questions, they were not out of what we
were asking him.

He talked about his depression, his hopelessness and his
despondency.

There were no evidences of bizarre thinking; his think-
ing was very clear. However, he has no insight at all into his
problems; at that time, his judgment was poor.

Dr. Reback’s final diagnosis was that defendant suffered from
“borderline personality with narcissistic characteristics [and]
crisis neurosis.” She said this diagnosis “is a mental illness
because it makes him dysfunctional. He is unable to function; he
is unable to form lasting personal relationships; he is unable to be
flexible within his social and work atmosphere or situations.” She
said, “The only . . . friend he had was probably his family and his
wife.”

On 21 May 1981 the Mecklenburg County District Court after
a hearing ordered defendant committed to Broughton Hospital for
the mentally ill in Morganton after finding defendant “consents to
commitment [and] by clear and convincing evidence, is mentally ill
and dangerous to himself.”
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Defendant was admitted to Dorothea Dix Hospital in Raleigh
on 20 May 1982 where he was treated by Dr. Billy Royal, a
psychiatrist at the hospital. After examination and testing, Dr.
Royal found evidence in defendant ‘“of depression, insecurity, anx-
iety and low self-esteem.” After obtaining a history from defend-
ant’s family, Dr. Royal “learned that Mr. Noland had a history of
mental illness” with in-patient and out-patient treatment at the
Mecklenburg County Mental Health Center and in-patient treat-
ment on one occasion at the Veterans’ Hospital in Salisbury. Dr.
Royal learned “that there had been a history of some instability
and different aspects of mental illness that extended back for
quite a number of years.” Dr. Royal testified, in essence, that
defendant had “very primitive [childlike] emotional needs” which
were largely met by his wife, children, and his wife's father. The
separation cut off these relationships and defendant’s personality
structure . . . was not such that he could deal with the loss.. . .”
Dr. Royal said, “After the separation [defendant’s] ability to cope
deteriorated.” Until a time shortly before the killings defendant
“felt that he was getting some positive feedback from his
separated wife, about the possibility of their getting back
together on a permanent basis; and/or working out some con-
tinued involvement with his children . . . so that he would have
that kind of relationship and gratification.” Dr. Royal diagnosed
defendant as suffering from “dysthymic disorder, which is a new
word for depressive neurosis, which is the word we used to use”
and “borderline personality problems, personality disorders.” Dr.
Royal said, “All of these diagnoses are mental illnesses.” Dr.
Royal did not think defendant “was psychotic” at the time of the
killings and, although he was not able to say definitely about it, “I
think . . . there is a suggestion that he may not have known the
difference [between right and wrong] in terms of how he func-
tioned.”

Shortly before the killings, Dr. Royal noted that defendant
“had been in some continued distress. . . . Had had some recent
contact with his wife with some suggestion or certainly inter-
pretation on his part, that the resolution of their separation was
not going to occur; and, that he was probably not going to have
contact with his children . . . on any basis that was established.”

There is no evidence which contradicts the testimony that
defendant was suffering from a mental illness at the time of these
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killings. The majority alludes to the fact that defendant pur-
chased the murder weapon two days before the shootings, assur-
ing the seller that he did not plan to shoot anyone; killed his
victims in the manner in which he predicted he would; and did not
appear “peculiar” to law enforcement officers within an hour of
the shootings. None of this is evidence tending to show that de-
fendant was not suffering from a mental illness. Mental illnesses
such as defendant’s are often not readily observable nor do they
negate the ability to plan ahead and think logically. Dr. Royal
testified that persons suffering from mental illnesses like defend-
ant’s can function “so that someone in general would not see that
they had any mental illness.” Dr. Reback pointed to defendant’s
ability to think logically, saying “he was oriented as to time,
place, person, and situation. . . . His thinking was logical. . . . He
was not confused.”

Defendant’s mental illness does not, of course, excuse the
crime. It was, however, substantiated by overwhelming, uncon-
tradicted, evidence. Defendant was, therefore, entitled to have
the jury peremptorily instructed that if they believed what all
the evidence on the point tended to show, they would find the ex-
istence of the mitigating circumstance that the capital felonies
were committed while defendant was under the influence of a
mental or emotional disturbance.

B.

All the evidence in the case tended to show that defendant
had no significant history of prior criminal activity and the jury
should have been peremptorily instructed on this mitigating cir-
cumstance. The evidence was that defendant had “two or three
times” communicated threats to his wife's family by telephone. On
one occasion a “peace warrant” was taken out against defendant,
and as a result of court proceedings pursuant to the warrant
defendant was fined $30 and ordered to pay the costs of court.
The only other evidence of criminal activity was defendant’s
wife’s testimony that in March 1981, “the night before I left him
he hit me.” The jury should not have been permitted to speculate
on whether these instances constituted a significant history of
prior criminal activity. I am satisfied that, as a matter of law,
they do not. The jury, consequently, should have been perempto-
rily instructed that if they believed as all the evidence tended to
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show on this point, they would find defendant had no significant
history of prior criminal activity.

C.
An error is reversible if there is “a reasonable possibility
that had the error . .. not been committed, a different result

would have been reached” at trial. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1443(a).

Since the jury did not specify whether it found these mitigat-
ing circumstances to exist, we must assume on this aspect of the
case that it did not find them. Had the jury found the existence of
these circumstances, there is a reasonable possibility that their
sentence recommendation would have been different. Had the
jury been given a peremptory instruction on these circumstances,
there is a reasonable possibility that it would have found them to
exist. Therefore, failure to give the peremptory instructions
amounts to reversible error which entitles defendant to a new
sentencing hearing.

II.

Finally, this sentence of death, considering both the crime
and defendant, is excessive and disproportionate. The record
clearly shows defendant at the time of these crimes was suffering
from a mental or emotional disturbance. Indeed, in conducting our
proportionality review we must assume the jury so found. The
jury indicated that it found one or more of the mitigating cir-
cumstances submitted to exist without specifying which one or
ones. Consequently, we must assume on proportionality review
that the jury found all mitigating circumstances submitted to ex-
ist. State v. Lawson, 310 N.C. 632, 314 S.E. 2d 493 (1984). Thus,
we must assume that the jury found: defendant has no significant
history of prior criminal activity; the murders were committed
while defendant was under the influence of mental or emotional
disturbance; defendant’s capacity to appreciate the criminality of
his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law
was impaired; defendant was a loving and kind father to his
children; defendant voluntarily sought help for his mental illness;
defendant did not resist arrest or try to escape when confronted
by law enforcement officers; and defendant has expressed re-
morse for his crimes. Balanced against all of these mitigating cir-
cumstances, there is only one aggravating circumstance, e., the
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murders were a part of a course of conduct which included crimes
of violence against other persons. The victims were persons with
whom defendant had had a close personal relationship. One of the
victims had been loved by defendant as a substitute father. The
impetus for the killings was defendant’s estrangement from his
wife and children.

Our job on proportionality review

is to compare the cases at bar with other cases in the pool
which are roughly similar with regard to the crime and the
defendant, such as, for example, the manner in which the
crime was committed and defendant’s character, background,
and physical and mental condition. If, after making such a
comparison, we find that juries have consistently been re-
turning death sentences in the similar cases, then we will
have a strong basis for concluding that a death sentence in
the case under review is not excessive or disproportionate.
On the other hand if we find that juries have consistently
been returning life sentences in the similar cases, we will
have a strong basis for concluding that a death sentence in
the case under review is excessive or disproportionate.

State v. Lawson, supra, 310 N.C. at 648, 314 S.E. 2d at 503.

It is true, as the majority notes, that in State v. Boyd, 311
N.C. 408, --- S.E. 2d --- (1984), and State v. Martin, 303 N.C. 2486,
278 S.E. 2d 214, cert. denied, 454 U.S. 933, reh. denied, 454 U.S.
1117 (1981), this Court sustained death sentences where the
murder victim was an estranged lover in Boyd, and an estranged
wife in Martin. Both Boyd and Martin are easily distinguishable
from the instant case. In Boyd the victim died as a result of 37
stab wounds inflicted by defendant. The jury found as ag-
gravating factors that the murder was especially heinous,
atrocious or cruel and that defendant had previously been con-
victed of a violent felony. The Court in Boyd said at the close of
its proportionality review that “scanty evidence of emotional or
mental disorder, which, together with defendant’'s significant
history of criminal convictions and the heinous nature of the
crime, including suffering of the victim, provide the basis for a
penalty of death.” In Martin, likewise, the murder of defendant’s
estranged wife was particularly brutal. Defendant shot her twice
causing her to be disabled. He then dragged her across the room,
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held her up with one hand while he struck her four or five times
with the pistol, slung her against the wall and hit her again
several times with the pistol while she begged him not to hit her
any more. Then in the presence of her small child and with the
victim pleading for her life and asking for forgiveness, defendant
fired three more shots, two of which, entering her head, were
fatal. The jury found the murder to be especially heinous,
atrocious or cruel and found no mitigating circumstances. The
jury expressly found that defendant was not under the influence
of a mental or emotional disturbance and that his capacity to ap-
preciate the criminality of his conduct was not impaired.

In every case so far, affirmed on appeal, where murders have
arisen out of prior close relationships and estrangement of loved
ones, absent the kind of brutality present in Boyd and Martin, our
juries have returned sentences of life imprisonment. State v. Hin-
son, 310 N.C. 245, 311 S.E. 2d 256 (1984) (defendant killed hus-
band); State v. Woods, 307 N.C. 213, 297 S.E. 2d 574 (1982) (wife
killed husband); State v. Parton, 303 N.C. 55, 277 S.E. 2d 410
(1981) (defendant killed girlfriend with whom he had gone fishing);
State v. Colvin, 297 N.C. 691, 256 S.E. 2d 689 (1979) (defendant
killed wife after marital difficulties and after threatening to kill
her “before he would allow her to take his children away from
him”); State v. Myers, 299 N.C. 671, 263 S.E. 2d 768 (1980) (defend-
ant killed estranged wife). This result holds true for every case in
which there was substantial evidence of impaired capacity or
mental or emotional disturbance. State v. Anderson, 303 N.C. 185,
278 S.E. 2d 238 (1981) (defendant killed woman with whom he had
previously lived but from whom he was separated at the time of
the murder; there was evidence that defendant suffered from a
mental disorder); State v. Clark, 300 N.C. 116, 265 S.E. 2d 204
(1980) (defendant killed father; evidence on insanity plea that de-
fendant was paranoid schizophrenic); State v. Franks, 300 N.C. 1,
265 S.E. 2d 177 (1980) (defendant killed girlfriend with whom he
lived; evidence that defendant suffered from chronic undifferen-
tiated schizophrenia).

In State v. Boyd, supra, in which this Court sustained a death
penalty where the victim was an estranged lover, the Court justi-
fied its conclusion that the penalty was not disproportionate in
light of other similar cases in which life imprisonment had been
imposed on the ground that in these other cases “there was evi-
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dence that the defendants were suffering from legitimate mental
or emotional disorder.” Here there is substantial evidence that
defendant was suffering from a mental or emotional disturbance.
Indeed, as I have earlier pointed out, I think all the evidence
tends to show this.

The sentence of death here, therefore, when compared with
sentences rendered in other similar cases is excessive and dispro-
portionate.

Justices MARTIN and FRYE join part II of this dissent.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. CALVIN CHAVIS BAKER

No. 74A84
(Filed 2 October 1984)

1. Criminal Law 8§ 75.2, 75.15—~ confession--defendant not affected by
threat —not intoxicated at time of statement
There was evidence to support findings and conclusions that defendant
was not threatened or intoxicated and that his pretrial confession was volun-
tary where a detective was unable to recall at the voir dire hearing a threaten-
ing statement made to defendant, but remembered it at trial; the threatening
statement was made around 11:00 p.m. after an interview with defendant had
been terminated by his request for an attorney; the detective testified that
defendant did not react to the threatening statement or appear to be afraid;
defendant did not waive his rights and subsequently make statements until
2:20 p.m. the next day; and the detectives and defendant testified that defend-
ant was not intoxicated on the day he made his statements, although he may
have been drinking and smoking marijuana on the day of the crime and of his
arrest.

2. Criminal Law 8§ 75.4, 75.15; Constitutional Law § 49— waiver of right to
counsel —insufficient evidence of intoxication — questioning after request for an
attorney

The defendant knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived his con-
stitutional right to counsel where the evidence indicated that defendant was
not intoxicated when he waived his rights, although he had consumed a beer
and marijuana the day before, and where the defendant informed detectives on
his own and without prompting that he wished to talk about the crime after he
had previously refused to talk and requested an attorney. Police may question
an accused who has invoked his right to silence and to counsel if the accused
himself initiates further communication with the police concerning the crime.
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3. Criminal Law § 181.2— post-conviction hearing—motion for appropriate
relief — sufficiency of the evidence to support findings
The trial court properly denied a motion for appropriate relief based on a
detective’s failure to recall at voir dire a threatening statement made to de-
fendant and his recollection of that statement at trial, because the evidence
supported the court’s finding that defendant had not been threatened during
the interview and had not expressed fear or mentioned any statement made
by the detective the previous evening. Findings of fact made by a court in its
order granting or denying a motion for appropriate relief are binding on ap-
peal if supported by evidence in the record, even if the evidence is conflicting.

4, Criminal Law § 15.1; Jury § 2.1— motion to change venue or for a new
venire — insufficient prejudice from newspaper articles
There was no error in denying a defendant’s motions for a change of
venue or a change in the venire where the newspaper articles cited by defend-
ant were factual, non-inflammatory reports of events; prospective jurors who
said that the newspaper accounts would influence their judgment were ex-
cused; there had been no difficulty in selecting the jury; the defense had not
exhausted its peremptory challenges; there was no evidence that papers read
by jurors in the jury room contained articles relating to the crime or the trial;
and the two jurors who said they had read newspaper articles in the jury
room specifically denied having read any articles about the case. The trial
judge was not required to ask the jurors whether they had discussed any out-
side accounts or information about the case when the defendant did not re-
quest such an inquiry.

5. Criminal Law § 5— mental capacity of defendant to proceed —fear of reprisal
insufficient to show incompetency
The court did not err in denying defendant’s motions to stop the trial,
strike his testimony due to mental incapacity, and for a mistrial, where defend-
ant’s testimony on direct examination implicated him in the crimes charged
against him; a certified forensic screening examiner testified that defendant
was competent; defendant’s father testified that defendant had changed and
become nervous while in jail before trial and was irrational and did not know
what he was doing; a bailiff testified that defendant had not been hostile, irra-
tional, or violent; defendant’s attorney stated that defendant had completely
changed the story he had consistently told before trial; and there was evidence
that defendant was afraid that a man still at large and also charged in the
crime would retaliate against his family.

6. Criminal Law § 86.4— impeachment of defendant— juvenile petitions

There was no prejudicial error in a prosecutor asking questions from
juvenile petitions on cross-examination where defendant had been found delin-
quent in the proceedings arising from the petitions; the prosecutor was acting
in good faith; and the witness was either evasive or confused.

APPEAL by defendant from the judgment entered by Long,
Judge, at the 26 September 1983 Criminal Session of FORSYTH
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County Superior Court, and from a ruling by Wood, Judge, on 5
August 1983, denying defendant’s motion to suppress.

Defendant, Calvin Chavis Baker, was charged with first
degree rape, felonious larceny of an automobile, felonious break-
ing or entering and felonious larceny.

The State's evidence tended to show that in the late after-
noon of 27 June 1983, two young black males came to the resi-
dence of Mr. and Mrs. P. in Winston-Salem. When Mr. P. came to
the door, he was knocked to the floor by one of the black males
and struck in the throat with a metal rod by the other. He was
then bound hand and foot and placed on a bed in the front bed-
room of the residence. One of the assailants found Mrs. P. asleep
in another room, bound her, and forced her into a back bedroom.
There, he threatened her with a metal rod and raped her. The
other assailant then entered the bedroom, threatened Mrs. P.
with a pistol, and raped her. Mr. and Mrs. P. were then forced in-
to a bathroom and bound. The assailants ransacked the residence,
removed a number of articles of personal property, and placed
them in the vietims' automobile. The assailants then drove away
in the automobile.

Mr. P. freed himself from his bonds, freed his wife, and called
the police. A police broadcast describing the automobile was
heard by C. S. Poteat, a private investigator. Shortly afterward,
Mr. Poteat saw the described vehicle occupied by two black
males, one of whom he subsequently identified as the defendant.
Mr. Poteat followed the automobile and notified the police over a
telephone in his vehicle. After a high-speed chase, the occupants
of the victims' automobile abandoned it near a public school and
fled on foot. The defendant was apprehended and arrested a few
minutes later near the scene by a police officer.

On the day after his arrest, defendant executed a waiver of
his constitutional rights and agreed to answer questions. He then
made written and oral statements in which he admitted helping
Tommy Covington with the robbery. He also stated that he had
seen Covington rape Mrs. P. but did not admit that he had raped
her. Subsequently defendant moved to suppress these statements
on the grounds that they were involuntary and were taken in vio-
lation of his constitutional rights.
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Defendant testified at trial and at one point began to admit
all of the crimes charged against him, as well as crimes with
which he was not charged. Defendant objected to this testimony
on the grounds that he was not competent and did not understand
what he was doing. After a hearing the court concluded that de-
fendant was competent and allowed the trial to proceed. Subse-
quent to his conviction and sentencing the defendant moved to
have his conviction set aside based on new evidence of threats
made to him prior to trial and because some jurors had access to
newspapers during the trial. The motions were denied.

Rufus L. Edmisten, Attorney General, by Henry 1. Rosser,
Assistant Attorney General, for the State.

Zachary T. Bynum, III, for defendant-appellant.

COPELAND, Justice.

Defendant has excepted to the denial of his motion to sup-
press his pretrial statement, motion for a change of venue or
venire, motion for mistrial and motion to strike his testimony, and
motions for appropriate relief. However, defendant did not object
at trial to the rulings on his motions or to the findings of fact and
conclusions of law on which the rulings were based. Defendant
also failed to file objections to the findings of fact and conclusions
of law which were the basis of the trial court’s denial of his mo-
tions for appropriate relief. Exceptions must be properly pre-
served for review “by action of counsel taken during the course of
the proceedings in the trial tribunal by objection noted” unless by
rule or law such exception is deemed to be preserved or taken
without objection. N.C. R. App. P. 10(b)(1). If no exceptions are
taken to findings of fact, “such findings are presumed to be sup-
ported by competent evidence and are binding on appeal.” Schloss
v. Jamison, 258 N.C. 271, 128 S.E. 2d 590 (1962). Defendant has
not properly preserved his exceptions pursuant to Rule 10(b)X1)
and so they cannot properly be the basis for his assignments of
error. N.C. R. App. P. 10(a). However, in the interest of justice we
will review defendant’s assignments of error based on these ex-
ceptions as well as those based on properly preserved exceptions.

I.

[11 Defendant assigns as error the failure of Judge Wood and
Judge Long to suppress the written and oral statements made by



38 IN THE SUPREME COURT [312

State v. Baker

him to the police prior to trial. Defendant contends that at the
time he made the statements he was physically threatened and in-
toxicated so that the statements and his waiver of the right to
counsel were involuntary.

Defendant contends that he was coerced into confessing by a
statement of Detective Reavis to the effect that defendant “need-
ed the hell kicked out of him.” Detective Jones recalled this state-
ment at trial but had been unable to remember it at the voir dire
hearing. Detective Reavis testified at the wvoir dire hearing that
he did not recall making the statement. Detective Reavis inter-
viewed the defendant between 10:30 and 11:00 p.m. on 27 June
1983. The interview was held so that the defendant could fill out a
personal history sheet and be advised of his constitutional rights.
The statement of which the defendant complains was made after
the interview had been terminated by the defendant’s request for
an attorney. Defendant did n~t execute a waiver of his constitu-
tional rights until the next day at 2:20 p.m. and his oral and writ-
ten statements were made som ‘time later.

The defendant makes mucn of the fact that Judge Long did
not have before him a transcript of the voir dire hearing con-
ducted by Judge Wood when he ruled on the admissibility of
defendant’s statements at trial. Defendant argues that Judge
Long relied on the decision made by Judge Wood in the voir dire
hearing even though the detectives testified in that hearing that
Detective Reavis made no statement about the defendant needing
to have “the hell kicked out of him.” The trial transeript and
record indicate the opposite. Judge Long was made aware that
the statement attributed to Detective Reavis had not been ad-
mitted by the officers at the voir dire hearing when he ruled de-
fendant’'s statements to be admissible. While Judge Long did not
make detailed findings at the woir dire hearing held during the
trial, he did consider the testimony of Detective Jones that the
defendant did not react to Detective Reavis’ statement or appear
to be afraid. Judge Long then denied defendant’s motion to sup-
press his statements.

The defendant also argues that his statements were involun-
tary because he was acting under the influence of intoxicants
when he made them. We find no support in the record for this
argument. While the defendant may have been drinking beer and
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smoking marijuana on the day of the crime and of his arrest (27
June 1983), the detectives testified that he was not intoxicated on
the night of his arrest nor on the following day when he made his
statements. Defendant himself testified that he was not intoxi-
cated on June 28, the day the statements were made. Judge
Wood, in denying defendant’s pretrial motion to suppress his
statement, and Judge Long, in denying defendant’s motion for ap-
propriate relief, both weighed the conflicting testimony and con-
cluded that the defendant was not intoxicated when he made his
statement on 28 June 1983.

Based on their findings that defendant had not been intoxi-
cated or threatened, both judges concluded that defendant’s
statements were voluntarily made. While Judge Wood did not
hear Detective Jones’ testimony concerning the statement made
by Detective Reavis there was sufficient evidence before him to
support his finding. Findings by the court that no threats or
promises were made to the defendant to induce him to make a
statement are proper findings of fact. State v. Jackson, 308 N.C.
549, 578, 304 S.E. 2d 134, 150 (1983). Findings of fact made by the
trial judge following a wvoir dire hearing on the voluntariness of a
defendant’s confession are conclusive on appeal if supported by
competent evidence in the record. I/d. at 569, 304 S.E. 2d at 145;
State v. Oxendine, 305 N.C. 126, 135, 286 S.E. 2d 546, 551 (1982);
State v. Rook, 304 N.C. 201, 212, 283 S.E. 2d 732, 740 (1981). The
findings of Judges Wood and Long that the defendant was not
threatened or intoxicated are supported by competent and materi-
al evidence and are binding on this Court. Their conclusions that
defendant’s confession was voluntary are supported by the find-
ings.

[2] Defendant also contends that his waiver of the right to
counsel was not knowingly and intelligently made. We disagree.
The defendant argues that he was intoxicated when he waived his
rights and made his statement because of the beer and marijuana
he had consumed on the day of the crime. But, as previously men-
tioned, the evidence indicates that defendant was not intoxicated
when he waived his rights. Whether a waiver of constitutional
rights has been knowingly and intelligently made is to be deter-
mined from the totality of the circumstances. State v. Steptoe,
296 N.C. 711, 716, 252 S.E. 2d at 711 (1979). Judge Wood con-
cluded that defendant was not intoxicated when he waived his
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rights on 28 June 1983 and that his waiver was knowingly and
voluntarily made. His findings are supported by competent and
material evidence.

The fact that on the night of his arrest defendant had refused
to talk and requested an attorney does not prevent his statement
from being voluntary. Defendant on his own and without prompt-
ing from the detectives informed them that he wished to talk
about the crime. Police may question an accused who has invoked
his right to silence and to counsel if the accused himself initiates
further communication with the police concerning the crime. Ed-
wards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 484-85 (1981). That is exactly what
defendant did here. We hold that in the totality of the circum-
stances defendant’s waiver of his constitutional rights was know-
ingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made.

II.

[31 In his brief defendant argues that the trial court erred in
denying his motion for appropriate relief based on the changed
testimony of Detective Jones. We find no error and affirm the rul-
ing of the trial court.

In denying defendant’s motion for appropriate relief Judge
Long found as a fact that “{dJuring the interview Officer Reavis
did not threaten the defendant in any way and the defendant did
not express any fear and did not mention any statement made by
the detective on the previous evening.” Findings that no threats
or promises were made to the defendant is a proper finding of
fact. Jackson, at 578, 304 S.E. 2d at 150. Findings of fact made by
a court in its order granting or denying a motion for appropriate
relief are binding on appeal if supported by evidence in the
record. State v. Bush, 307 N.C. 152, 168, 297 S.E. 2d 563, 573
(1982); State v. Stevens, 305 N.C. 712, 719-20, 291 S.E. 2d 585, 591
(1982). This test is applicable even if the evidence is conflicting.
Stevens, at 720, 291 S.E. 2d at 591. There is abundant evidence in
the record to support Judge Long’s findings, and they in turn sup-
port his conclusion that defendant’s confession was voluntary.

III.

[4] We next turn to defendant’s contention that the trial court
erred in denying his motions for change of venue or change of
venire. Defendant argues that pretrial publicity was so extensive
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and of such an inflammatory nature that he could not obtain a fair
trial. In support defendant refers to numerous newspaper articles
written about the crime and contends that this publicity was
more inflammatory and widespread in the county of prosecution.
Defendant contends that denial of his motion was clearly prejudi-
cial in light of the fact that jurors had access to newspapers
before the trial and in the jury room during deliberations. We
hold that the trial court properly exercised its discretion and that
defendant was not prejudiced.

A trial court must grant a change of venue or order a special
venire “[i]f, upon motion of the defendant, the court determines
that there exists in the county in which prosecution is pending so
great a prejudice against the defendant that he cannot obtain a
fair and impartial trial, . . .” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-957 (1983). A
motion for a change of venue, or a change of venire, is addressed
to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be
disturbed in the absence of an abuse of discretion. State v. Jer-
rett, 309 N.C. 239, 250, 307 S.E. 2d 339, 345 (1983). State v. Oliver,
302 N.C. 28, 37, 274 S.E. 2d 183, 189 (1981). The burden is on
defendant to show that the prejudice against him is so great that
he cannot obtain a fair and impartial trial. State v. Boykin, 291
N.C. 264, 269, 229 S.E. 2d 914, 917-18 (1976). If the defendant
shows that there is a reasonable likelihood that a fair trial cannot
be had, it is an abuse of discretion if the trial court fails to grant
a change of venue or a special venire panel. Id. at 270, 229 S.E. 2d
at 918.

After examining the newspaper articles submitted by the
defendant we find that they are factual, non-inflammatory, re-
ports of events. Such general factual coverage of a crime is not in-
nately prejudicial. State v. Matthews, 295 N.C. 265, 279, 245 S.E.
2d 727, 736 (1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1128 (1979). The record
indicates that prospective jurors who said that the newspaper ac-
counts would influence their judgment were excused. In denying
defendant’s motion the trial judge noted that there had been no
difficulty in selecting the jury and that the defense had not ex-
hausted its peremptory challenges. We see nothing in this that
demonstrates that defendant was prejudiced.

However, defendant argues that events during the trial show
that he was prejudiced by the court’s failure to grant a change of
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venue. Specifically, he argues he was prejudiced because the jury
had access to newspapers while in the jury room. While this is
true there is no evidence that any of the papers read by the
jurors contained articles relating to the crime or the trial. After
this was brought to his attention the trial judge questioned the
jury, and none of the jurors indicated that they had read any ar-
ticles pertaining to the trial. The two jurors who said they had
read newspapers in the jury room specifically denied having read
any articles about the case. This evidence is insufficient to show
that the defendant was prejudiced.

In arguing that the trial court erred in denying his motion
for appropriate relief the defendant contends that the two jurors
who read newspapers in the jury room must have read the head-
lines or the opening paragraphs of articles about the case before
they could know that the articles concerned the case and that
they were forbidden to read them. Defendant then contends that
the trial judge erred by not asking the jurors if they had dis-
cussed the newspaper accounts of the case because word of mouth
recounting of the information contained in headlines or articles
would prejudice the defendant. We find these arguments to be
without merit.

It is pure speculation to suggest that the newspapers read by
the jurors contained articles about the case or that the jurors dis-
cussed such articles among themselves. The trial transcript does
not reveal what papers were read by the jurors so this Court has
no way of knowing that such papers contained any articles about
defendant’s case. What evidence there is suggests that the papers
did not contain any such articles because all of the jurors in-
dicated that they had read no newspaper articles concerning the
case. While the trial judge might have done better to nail down
this issue by asking the jurors whether they had discussed any
outside accounts or information about the case, his failure to do
so was not prejudicial to the defendant. Defendant did not re-
quest that the court question the jury about any such discussions,
and we hold that it was not error for the trial judge to fail to ask
such questions on his own motion.

Based on our review of the transcript we conclude that de-
fendant has failed to show that he was prejudiced by publicity
about the case or denied a fair and impartial trial. Therefore, we
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hold that the trial court did not err in denying defendant’s mo-
tions for a change of venue or a change in the venire. For the
same reasons we hold that the court correctly denied defendant’s
motion for appropriate relief.

Iv.

[5] Defendant contends that the trial court erred in its denial of
his motions to stop the trial, strike his testimony due to his men-
tal incapacity, and for mistrial. We disagree.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1001(a) (1983) provides that

(n)o person may be tried, convicted, sentenced, or punished
for a crime when by reason of mental illness or defect he is
unable to understand the nature and object of the pro-
ceedings against him, to comprehend his own situation in
reference to the proceedings, or to assist in his defense in a
rational or reasonable manner.

The defendant bears the burden of persuasion on a motion under
this section. State v. Jacobs, 51 N.C. App. 324, 276 S.E. 2d 482
(1981). The court’s findings of fact as to defendant’s mental capaci-
ty are conclusive on appeal if supported by the evidence. State v.
McCoy, 303 N.C. 1, 18, 277 S.E. 2d 515, 528 (1981); State v. Taylor,
290 N.C. 220, 226 S.E. 2d 23 (1976).

Defendant took the stand in his own defense and on direct
examination the following exchange took place:

Q. Mr. Baker, we've heard a lot of evidence here today. On
this night, June 27th, all of this is alleged to have occurred,
would you tell us what happened in your own words that day.

A. Okay. Well, Mr. Covington came over my house that
morning and talking about he wanted to shoot some ball, and
shot some ball. Got through, went to got some beer. After
that he say he know where to make some money at. So he
told me, you know, what the deal was, and so I said okay.
Then when we got there—

Q. What do you mean what the deal was?
A. You know, he thought nobody wasn’t going to be home

anything like that. And so after that, he open a door and so
he went over there and knocked on the door and this old man
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came to the door. And then I pushed Mr. Covington aside and
then I hit the old man. Then I started cutting him.

Cut him on the wrist. And then after that, I started hit-
ting on Mr. Covington with a iron bolt and knocked him out.
Tied this old man up and to the bedroom.

Seen a lady and tied her up. Start screaming. After that,
I started searching the house.

Q. What you mean started cutting them up?
Cut their wrist. I just started cutting.
THE COURT: Are you saying you cut a wrist?
THE WITNESS: Yeah.
Doing it for y’all. That’s what they wanted anyway.

And so I tied Mr. Covington up and told them tied up.
Then I wanted to tie both of them up. I did everything. And
then started raping her about nine or ten times the whole
day.

MR. BYNUM: Your Honor, I'm going to object to this—
MR. COLE: Let him talk. I object. Let him talk.

A. After that, I got all the property dumped out in the floor
and left—

THE COURT: Just one moment. What is the objection?

MR. BYNUM: Perhaps this better be heard on voir dire.
I'm not sure, Your Honor.

MR. COLE: Your Honor, I hate to interrupt the defend-
ant’s testimony. The jury has a right to hear the testimony.
He wants to tell his story. Let him tell his story.

MR. BYNUM: Your Honor, he has unbeknownst to counsel
changed everything he told me at this time.

On motion of defendant’s counsel the court ordered defendant

to be examined by Bryan Brown, a certified forensic screening ex-
aminer. The court then held a voir dire hearing on defendant’s
competency to stand trial. Mr. Brown was tendered by defendant
as an expert witness and testified that he had examined defend-
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ant sometime before the trial and that at the time of his first ex-
amination it was his opinion that defendant was competent and
able to proceed to trial. He also testified that he had examined
defendant again on the day of the voir dire hearing. Mr. Brown
testified that defendant was aware of the charges against him,
but in his opinion defendant consciously decided not to talk about
the events occurring on the day of the crime. The court also
heard testimony from defendant’s father that defendant had
changed and become nervous during his confinement in jail prior
to trial, and that it was his opinion that defendant was irrational
and did not know what was going on when he testified. The bailiff
testified that defendant had not exhibited hostile, irrational or
violent behavior but that he looked away, turned his back, or com-
mented when he disagreed with testimony or rulings by the
court. Mr. Bynum, defendant’s counsel, informed the court that
defendant had completely changed the story he had consistently
told him in preparation for trial. He noted that at the pretrial
voir dire hearing defendant had adhered to his original story. Mr.
Bynum also told the court that defendant was not assisting him in
conducting the defense. There was also evidence that defendant
took full responsibility for the crime out of fear that Tommy Cov-
ington, who was still at large and also charged in the crime,
would retaliate against defendant’s family if defendant implicated
him in the crime.

After hearing the evidence the court concluded that defend-
ant was capable of understanding the nature and object of the
proceedings, that he was able to comprehend his situation, and
assist in his own defense in a reasonable and rational manner.
Based on these findings the court held that defendant’s testimony
was not motivated by any of the traditional reasons which would
make him incompetent to proceed. While defendant’s conduct was
unusual, to say the least, there was much evidence that he was
competent, and we hold that he has not met his burden of persua-
sion. Defendant may have testified as he did due to a fear of Tom-
my Covington, but that does not demonstrate that he was
incompetent. The court’s findings are supported by the evidence
and so are binding on appeal.

V.

[6] Defendant’s final assignment of error that was briefed and
argued concerns the prosecutor’s use of defendant’s juvenile
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record to impeach his credibility. Because this case was tried
before 1 July 1984, the rules of the new Evidence Code will not
be addressed.

In any criminal or delinquency proceeding a juvenile who
testifies, either as the defendant or a witness, may be ordered to
testify as to whether he has been adjudicated delinquent. N.C.
Gen. Stat. § TA-677(b) (1981). This is in line with the general rule
that a defendant who takes the stand may be cross examined for
impeachment purposes about prior convictions. State v. Lynch,
300 N.C. 534, 543, 268 S.E. 2d 161, 166 (1980). Defendant contends
that the prosecutor in this case went beyond these well estab-
lished rules by reading directly from the juvenile petitions while
questioning defendant and by characterizing the petitions as
felonious. Defendant argues that by this method of questioning
the prosecutor improperly characterized the adjudications of
delinquency and in effect improperly offered evidence of such ad-
judications.

Defendant correctly points out that a prosecutor may not in
cross examining a defendant on collateral crimes use questions
which assume as facts unproved insinuations of the defendant’s
guilt of collateral offenses. State v. Phillips, 240 N.C. 516, 524, 82
S.E. 2d 762, 767 (1954). However, defendant’'s argument that the
prosecutor violated this rule is clearly erroneous. The prosecutor
based his questions concerning defendant’s prior convictions on
juvenile petitions from proceedings in which defendant had been
found to be delinquent. Clearly, the prosecutor was not making in-
sinuations of unproven facts as was the case in Phillips.

“When a cross-examiner seeks to discredit a witness by
showing prior inconsistent statements or other conduct, the an-
swers of the witness to questions concerning collateral matter are
generally conclusive and may not be contradicted by extrinsic tes-
timony.” State v. Cutshall, 278 N.C. 334, 349, 180 S.E. 2d 745, 754
(1971). Defendant contends that the prosecutor’s tactic of reading
from defendant’s juvenile petitions while cross examining defend-
ant in effect put those petitions into evidence to contradict de-
fendant's denials. Such conduct by the prosecutor is not to be
commended, but we hold that it does not constitute prejudicial er-
ror. When a prosecutor is acting on a good faith belief in the reli-
ability of his information, as was clearly the case here, he may
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press or “sift” the witness by further cross examination when the
witness denies that he committed the crimes or bad acts that are
the subject of the cross examination. State v. Fountain, 282 N.C.
58, 68-69, 191 S.E. 2d 674, 682 (1972). This is particularly true
where the witness is either evasive or confused, as appears to be
the case here. In the past we have found that it was not reversi-
ble error for the prosecutor to question a defendant about his
signature on a purported transcript of his guilty plea to a col-
lateral crime, id., and we now hold that the prosecutor’s questions
from defendant’s juvenile petitions do not constitute prejudicial
error.

We do not discuss defendant’s remaining assignments of
error since they were neither briefed nor argued and are deemed
abandoned. See N.C. R. App. P. 28(a). After a careful review of
the record we find no error.

No error.

WENDY BETTS, ANGIE BETTS, BY AND THROUGH THEIR GUARDIAN AD LITEM,
SANDRA BETTS PARKER anp KENNETH WAYNE O'NEIL v. MARGA-
RET PARRISH, ApMINISTRATRIX CTA oF THE ESTATE oF RUSSELL SANDERFORD,
RUBY WILSON ELLIS anp MILDRED S. POLLARD

No. 303A83

(Filed 2 October 1984)

1. Wills §§ 30.1, 52— partial intestacy —lack of ambiguity in will —condition
precedent in residuary clause
Where the testator’s will devised his real property to his mother for life,
then in fee simple to his wife, with the wife to take the property in fee simple
if the mother predeceased the testator, and further provided that plaintiffs
should take the property if both the mother and wife should predecease the
testator, there is no ambiguity when the wife predeceases the testator and the
last clause should not be applied as a residuary clause to prevent partial in-
testacy. That clause contains a condition precedent which was not met. G.S.
31-42, G.S. 29-15(3).

2. Wills § 28— doctrine of implied gift
The doctrine of implied gift set out in Wing v. Trust Co., 301 N.C. 456,
does not apply because Wing did not involve a lapsed devise, the plaintiffs in
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this case were not recipients of a lifetime estate, and Wing will not be invoked
merely to avoid intestacy.

Justice EXuM dissenting.

APPEAL by plaintiffs, pursuant to G.S. TA-30(2), from a deci-
sion of a divided panel of the Court of Appeals, 62 N.C. App. 77,
302 S.E. 2d 288 (1983), reversing an Order granting summary
judgment for the plaintiffs, entered by Godwin, J, at the 24
March 1982 Civil Session of Superior Court, WAKE County.

Moore, Ragsdale, Liggett, Ray & Foley, P.A., by John N.
Hutson, Jr., for plaintiffs-appellants.

Kimzey, Smith, McMillan & Roten, by Duncan A. McMillan,
for defendant-appellee.

FRYE, Justice.

This is a declaratory judgment action seeking a construction
of the will of Russell W. Sanderford [hereinafter also referred to
as the testator]. The testator’s wife, Mamie Prince Sanderford,
predeceased him. At the time of the testator’s death, he was sur-
vived by one lineal ascendant, his mother, Ruby Wilson Ellis, a
defendant in this action. He was also survived by the plaintiffs,
Kenneth Wayne O’Neil, a nephew; Wendy Betts and Angie Betts,
step-great-grandchildren (referred to as “nieces” in the Will).

The plaintiffs filed a complaint in the superior court seeking
a declaratory judgment adjudging them to be the owners of the
testator’s real property located at 134 Maywood Avenue, Raleigh,
North Carolina, subject to the life estate of Ruby Wilson Ellis.
The defendants answered seeking a declaratory judgment that
Ruby Wilson Ellis is the fee simple owner of the aforementioned
real estate. Both parties moved for summary judgment pursuant
to Rule 56 of the North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The
superior court granted the plaintiffs’ motion for summary judg-
ment. The court ruled that the devise to the testator’s wife (ITEM
THREE of the Will) of the remainder interest in the real estate
lapsed upon her death prior to the testator’s death. The court fur-
ther ruled that ITEM FOUR of the Will devised the lapsed re-
mainder to the plaintiffs as tenants in common. Therefore, the
testator’s mother, Ruby Wilson Ellis, held only a life estate in the
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real property with the remainder interest vested in fee to the
plaintiffs.

The Court of Appeals (Judges Webb and Braswell, with
Judge Whichard dissenting)} held that the remainder interest in
the testator’s real estate passed to his mother, Ruby Wilson Ellis,
pursuant to G.S. 31-42(c)(1)b and G.S. 29-15(3), since the testator
and his wife died without issue. Betts v. Parrish, 62 N.C. App. 77,
302 S.E. 2d 288 (1983).

We affirm the decision of the Court of Appeals.
L

Russell W. Sanderford died 10 April 1980 at age 66. Mr.
Sanderford’s Last Will and Testament was admitted to probate in
the Superior Court, Wake County, on 16 May 1980. The Will pro-
vided as follows:

I, RUssELL W. SANDERFORD, being of sound and dispos-
ing mind but knowing the certainty of death and the uncer-
tainty of my earthly existence, do hereby make, declare and
publish this my last will and testament, hereby revoking all
former wills by me made.

ITEM ONE

I direct my Executrix hereinafter named to give my
body a decent burial and to pay from the first monies she
receives all of my just debts, including the inheritance tax
payable by the beneficiaries of this devise.

ITEM Two

I will and bequeath all of my personal property in equal
shares to my wife, Mamie Prince Sanderford, and my mother,
Ruby Wilson Ellis; provided that if either should predecease
me then the survivor shall receive all of said personal proper-

ty.
ITEM THREE
I will and devise my house at 134 Maywood Avenue,

Raleigh, N. C., and all other real estate that I own to my
mother for her lifetime and after her death to my wife,
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Mamie Prince Sanderford, in fee simple. Should my mother
predecease me, then I will and devise said real estate to my
wife, Mamie Prince Sanderford, in fee simple.

ITEM FoUR

If my mother and my wife should both predecease me,
then I will, devise and bequeath all of my property, real, per-
sonal and mixed in equal shares to my nieces and nephew as
follows:

One-third interest to Wendy Betts

One-third interest to Angie Betts

One-third interest to Kenneth Wayne O'Neil
ITEM FIVE

I hereby name and appoint my wife, Mamie Prince
Sanderford, as Executrix of my estate to serve without bond.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I, the said RUSSELL W. SAN-
DERFORD, have hereunto set my hand and seal, this (illegible)
day of May 1974.

[1] In this declaratory judgment action, the plaintiffs contend
that there is an ambiguity in the Will created by the difference in
language between ITEM TwoO and ITEM THREE of the Will. When
the testator disposed of his personal property in ITEM Two, he
stated that if his wife were to predecease him, then his mother _
should take his wife’s share of his personal property. However, no
similar disposition of the real property was made in ITEM THREE
of the Will. Therefore, plaintiffs argue, this omission indicates
that Sanderford intended that his mother take only a life estate
in the real property, with the remainder in fee passing to the
plaintiffs pursuant to ITEM FOUR of the Will, thus preventing par-
tial intestacy. The trial court agreed with the plaintiffs.

On appeal the Court of Appeals reversed, stating that ITEM
FOUR of the Will was not ambiguous. The contingency in ITEM
FOUR of the Will, requiring that both the wife and mother
predecease the testator before any interest should pass to the
plaintiffs, had not occurred. Consequently, the remainder interest
in the property lapsed and passed to the mother, Ruby Wilson
Ellis, in accordance with G.S. 31-42(cl1)b and G.S. 29-15(3).
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Judge Whichard dissented, believing that the Will permits
“two interpretations, and that the interpretation which results in
complete testacy should prevail.” Betts v. Parrish, 62 N.C. App.
77, 80, 302 S.E. 2d 288, 290 (1983) (Whichard, J., dissenting). Judge
Whichard concluded that, although the draftsman failed to take
account of the possibility that testator’s wife would predecease
his mother, the testator nevertheless intended that his *‘nieces”
and nephew should have the property after the death of both his
wife and mother. He thus voted to affirm the trial court.
Therefore, the plaintiffs appeal to this Court as a matter of right.
See G.S. TA-30(2) (Cum. Supp. 1983).

IL.

We agree with the Court of Appeals that there is no ambigui-
ty in Mr. Sanderford’s Will. Betts v. Parrish, 62 N.C. App. 77, 302
S.E. 2d 288 (1983). ITEM THREE of the Will reads as follows:

I will and devise my house at 134 Maywood Avenue,
Raleigh, N. C., and all other real estate that I own to my
mother for her lifetime and after her death to my wife,
Mamie Prince Sanderford, in fee simple. Should my mother
predecease me, then I will and devise said real estate to my
wife, Mamie Prince Sanderford, in fee simple.

This provision creates a life estate for testator’s mother, with
a remainder over in fee simple to the testator’s wife. Sanderford’s
wife, the remainderman under ITEM THREE, predeceased the
testator and left no issue surviving that would have been an heir
to the testator had he died intestate. Therefore, G.S. 31-42(a)!
would not prevent a lapse from occurring. G.S. 31-42(b)* is not ap-

1. § 31-42. Failure of devises and legacies by lapse or otherwise; renunciation.
—(a) Devolution of Devise or Legacy to Person Predeceasing Testator.— Unless a
contrary intent is indicated by the Will, where a devise or legacy of any interest in
property is given to a devisee or legatee who would have taken individualiy had he
survived the testator, and he dies survived by issue before the testator, whether he
dies before or after the making of the will, such devise or legacy shall pass by
substitution to such issue of the devisee or legatee as survived the testator in all
cases where such issue of the deceased devisee or legatee would have been an heir
of the testator under the provisions of the Intestate Succession Act had there been
no will.

2. Devolution of Devise or Legacy to Member of Class Predeceasing Testator.
—(b) Unless a contrary intent is indicated by the will, where a devise or legaecy of
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plicable since that subsection applies to members of a class who
predeceased the testator.

Because G.S. 31-42 does not prevent a lapse under subsec-
tions (a) or (b), the remainder interest would pass according to the
statutory provisions of subsection (c) which provides:

(¢) Devolution of Void, Revoked, Renounced or Lapsed
Devises or Legacies.—If subsections (a) and (b) above are not
applicable and if a contrary intent is not indicated in the will:

(1) Where a devise or legacy of an interest in property is
void, is revoked, or lapses or which for any other reason
fails to take effect, such a devise or legacy shall pass:

a. Under the residuary clause of the will applicable to
real property in case of such devise, or applicable to
personal property in case of such legacy, or

b. As if the testator had died intestate with respect
thereto when there is no such applicable residuary
clause[.]

Subsection (c)(1)a of the statute requires the devise to pass
under the terms of an applicable residuary clause in the event of
a lapse. In the absence of an applicable residuary clause, subsec-
tion (c)(1)b requires that the property pass as intestate property.

Plaintiffs contend that ITEM FOUR of the Will, though not
specifically designated as such, is in reality an applicable residu-
ary clause. If so, the property would pass to the plaintiffs pur-
suant to subsection (cN1)a, rather than to the testator’s mother,
his sole heir under the laws of intestacy, pursuant to subsection
(c)1)b.

It is well settled that no particular mode of expression is
needed to constitute a residuary clause. All that is required is an

an interest in property is given to a devisee or legatee who would have taken as a
member of a class had he survived the testator, and he dies survived by issue
before the testator, whether he dies before or after the making of the will, such
devise or legacy shall pass by substitution to such issue of the devisee or legatee as
survive the testator in all cases where such issue of the deceased legatee would
have been an heir of the testator under the provisions of the Intestate Succession
Act had there been no will: Provided, however, if such devisee or legatee is not sur-
vived by such issue, then the entire property interest therein shall devolve upon
the remaining members of the class who survive the testator.
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adequate indication that a particular clause was intended to
dispose of property which was not otherwise disposed of by the
Will. Faison v. Middleton, 171 N.C. 170, 88 S.E. 141 (1916). ITEM
FoUR of the Will provides:

If my mother and my wife should both predecease me,
then I will, devise and bequeath all of my property, real, per-
sonal and mixed in equal shares to my nieces and nephew as
follows:

One-third interest to Wendy Betts
One-third interest to Angie Betts
One-third interest to Kenneth Wayne O’Neil

Assuming arguendo that this provision constitutes a residu-
ary clause, it is apparent from the express language used by the
testator at the beginning of the provision that the plaintiffs
should take all of his property only if the testator’s mother and
wife both predeceased the testator. This, in fact, did not happen.
Only the wife predeceased the testator. “So where it is clear from
the residuary clause itself or other parts of the will, that the
testator had in fact a contrary intention, namely, that the residue
should not be general, and that things given away . . . should not
fall into the residue,” Holton v. Jones, 133 N.C. 399, 406, 45 S.E.
765, 768 (1903) (quoting Sorrey v. Bright, 21 N.C. (1 Dev. & Bat
Eq.) 114, 116 (1835) ); see gemerally, Annot., 10 A.L.R. 1522 (1921),
subsection (c)l)a of G.S. 31-42 does not apply. Therefore, the
plaintiffs do not take any interest under ITEM FOUR of the Will
since the condition precedent, i.e., the prior death of the testa-
tor's mother and wife, was not satisfied.

Since the remainder interest in the real property does not
pass under ITEM FOUR or any other provision of the Will, this
devise lapses and passes as intestate property to the testator’s
sole heir at law, his mother. See G.S. 31-42(c)1)b and 29-15(3).
Plaintiff contends, however, that the Court should depart from
the express language in ITEM FOUR so that no part of the
testator’s estate will pass by intestacy. “It is a general rule
always to construe a residuary clause so as to prevent an in-
testacy as regards any part of the testator’s estate, unless there
is an apparent intention to the contrary.” Faison, 171 N.C. at 172,
88 S.E. at 142 (emphasis added). The condition precedent in ITEM
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FOUR demonstrates a contrary intention and requires that part of
the testator’s estate pass by intestacy.

In Williard v. Weawil, 222 N.C. 492, 23 S.E. 2d 890 (1943), this
Court said:

We are not inadvertent to the presumption against intestacy,
called to our attention by the plaintiffs; but this rule, how-
ever strong, is but a rule of construction, which must yield to
the true intent of the testator when it can be ascertained.
. . . It does not authorize the Court to make a will or to add
to a testamentary disposition something which, by reasonable
inference, is not there, or to make intestacy impossible.

Id. at 496, 23 S.E. 2d at 893.

Furthermore, when the language of the will is definite and
clear, the presumption that the will must be construed to prevent
partial intestacy is generally not employed. If the language is
unambiguous, then there is no need to resort to a construction of
the will, and the expression of the testator must be given effect.
McCallum v. McCallum, 167 N.C. 310, 83 S.E. 250 (1914).

The language in ITEM FOUR of Sanderford’s Will is clear and
definite. The testator limited the effectiveness of ITEM FOUR of
the Will by inserting language at the beginning, which creates a
condition precedent. The Will stated that the beneficiaries under
ITEM FOUR would take an interest in the testator’s property if his
mother and wife should botkh predecease him. If either the
testator’s wife or mother were living at the testator’s death then
this condition was not met, since it is obvious that both of them
had not predeceased the testator. This is consistent with ITEM
Two of the Will wherein Sanderford expressly provided that in
the event that either his wife or mother should predecease him
then the survivor should be entitled to all of his personal proper-
ty. This language achieves a perfectly legitimate and desirable
testamentary plan under the circumstances because it provides
primarily for the wife and mother in case of the testator’s death.

[2] Plaintiffs strongly argue that the doctrine of implied gifts, as
espoused in Wing v. Wachovia Bank & Trust Co., 301 N.C. 456,
272 S.E. 2d 90 (1980), should be applied to the facts in the present
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case to imply a gift to the plaintiffs of the remainder interest in
Sanderford’s real property. This doctrine simply states that:

If a reading of the whole will produces a conviction that the
testator must necessarily have intended an interest to be
given which is not bequeathed by express and formal words,
the Court may supply the defect by implication and so mould
the language of the testator as to carry into effect, so far as
possible, the intention which it is of opinion that he has on
the whole will sufficiently declared.

Id. at 464-465, 272 S.E. 2d at 96 (quoting Burcham v. Burcham, 219
N.C. 357, 359, 13 S.E. 2d 615, 616 (1941)).

A brief review of the facts in Wing is necessary to accurately
distinguish it from the present case. In Wing the testator’s will
established a testamentary trust, which provided that a small por-
tion of the income was to be paid to the testator’s brothers and
sisters for life, a small portion to testator’s nieces and nephews
for life, with the bulk of the income passing to the great-nieces
and great-nephews. The trust was to terminate upon the death of
the last survivor of all of the life income beneficiaries; however,
there was no express provision in the will for ultimate distribu-
tion of the trust corpus. The Court did indeed recognize the doc-
trine of implied gifts by concluding that the corpus of the trust
should pass to certain income beneficiaries, namely, the great-
nieces and great-nephews. The Court declined to accept the judg-
ment of the Court of Appeals which had concluded that the
corpus should pass by intestacy.

The first important distinction between the present case and
Wing is the fact that in Wing the Court was not concerned with
the issue of a lapsed devise. A lapsed devise occurs when the
devisee dies prior to the death of the testator. See generally N.
Wiggins, Wills and Administration of Estates in Northk Carolina,
§ 149 (2d ed. 1983) and Leath, Lapse, Abatement, and Ademption,
39 N.C.L. Rev. 313 {1961) for a discussion of North Carolina law
relating to lapsed devises. The Wing case involves the question of
the ultimate distribution of the corpus of a testamentary trust
after the death of the income beneficiaries, unfettered by any
question of a lapsed devise. However, in the instant case, the
dispositive issue is the ultimate disposition of a lapsed devise
under ITEM THREE of the Will, created by the death of the testa-
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tor’s wife prior to the death of the testator. If indeed a named in-
come beneficiary in Wing had predeceased the testator, then the
facts of that case would have been more similar to those before
the Court today. See generally Annot., 118 A.L.R. 559 (1939)
(discussing application of various states’ anti-lapse statutes in the
event of the death of a devisee or legatee before testator as ap-
plicable to the interest of a beneficiary of a trust who dies before
the testator).

Second, the law of trusts recognizes that equity will infer an
intent to give the remainder interest in the principal to the in-
come beneficiary when there is no express disposition of the prin-
cipal provided for by the testator. Poindexter v. Wachovia Bank
and Trust Co., 2568 N.C. 371, 128 S.E. 2d 867 (1963). See, e.¢., G. G.
Bogert and G. T. Bogert, The Law of Trusts and Trustees, § 182,
at 357 (rev. 2d ed. 1979) (hereinafter Bogert and Bogert). Absent
an express disposition of the principal by the testator, an implied
gift can result if there is an implied intent on the part of the
testator that an additional interest be given to an income benefici-
ary. Bogert and Bogert, supra, § 82, at 354. In Wing, the Court
considered the scheme employed by the testator in disposing of
his estate as evidence of an unequivocal intent on the part of the
testator that the great-nieces and great-nephews should ultimate-
ly receive the remainder of the trust corpus. The testator had
given eighty percent of the trust income to the great-nieces and
great-nephews and provided that ultimately they would receive
one hundred percent of the trust income.

Unlike the Wing case, the plaintiffs in the present case were
not recipients of any lifetime interest in the testator’s estate. In-
stead, Sanderford demonstrated his intent to benefit primarily his
mother by devising a life estate in his real property to his mother
and also bequeathing one-half of his personal property to her.
Sanderford clearly indicated an intent to favor his mother over
the plaintiffs, who were beneficiaries under ITEM FOUR of the
Will, only if his mother and wife predeceased him.

Finally, the Court in Wing explicitly acknowledged that “a
gift by implication is not favored in the law and cannot rest upon
mere conjecture.” Wing, 301 N.C. at 464, 272 S.E. 2d at 96. The in-
ference of such an implied gift must rest upon cogent reasoning
and “ ‘cannot be indulged merely to avoid intestacy.’” Id. (quoting
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Burney v. Holloway, 225 N.C. 633, 637, 36 S.E. 2d 5, 8 (1945) ). For
the Court to infer that Sanderford favored his nephew and step-
great-grandchildren over his mother would be indulging in mere
conjecture. Indeed, cogent reasoning dictates that the testator ex-
pressly limited the plaintiffs to an interest in his property only
upon the happening of an expressly stated condition, that is, the
death of both his mother and his wife prior to his own death.

The fact that part of the testator’'s estate will pass by in-
testacy to the primary and natural object of his bounty, his
mother, is certainly not a compelling reason to find an implied
gift to the plaintiffs. Justice Seawell succinctly stated the same
conclusion in Van Winkle v. Berger, 228 N.C. 473, 46 S.E. 2d 305
(1948):

A man is not required to visualize all changes and contingen-
cies near or remote, trivial or important, which might come
about . .. and meticulously provide against intestacy in
order to make a valid will; nor may the Court, by the exer-
cise of hindsight better than his foresight, improve upon the
testamentary disposition.

Id. at 479, 46 S.E. 2d at 309.

Accordingly, we hold that ITEM FOUR of the Will, even if in
the nature of a residuary clause, is subject to a condition prece-
dent, namely, that testator’s mother and spouse should both
predecease him before any property should pass to the plaintiffs,
To construe ITEM FOUR of testator’s Will so as to give this prop-
erty to plaintiffs, contrary to the expressed provision of that
item, would amount to rewriting the Will. This we decline to do.
Because the property does not pass to plaintiffs under ITEM FOUR
of the Will, it must pass by the laws of intestacy. The laws of in-
testacy clearly favor a parent over a collateral relative or a non-
blood relative.

In conclusion, we hold that the life estate in the testator's
real estate passed to the testator’s mother under ITEM THREE of
the Will, and the remainder interest in the real estate passes to
the testator’s mother under the laws of intestacy via the anti-
lapse statute, G.S. 31-42(c)(1}b. We find this result consistent with
the intention of the testator as expressed in and ascertained from
his Will as a whole, giving greater regard to the dominant pur-
pose of the testator.
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The decision of the Court of Appeals, reversing the trial
court and remanding for judgment that the remainder interest in
the testator’s real property passes to his mother, is hereby af-
firmed.

Affirmed.

Justice EXUM dissenting.

I dissent essentially for the reasons stated by Judge
Whichard in his dissenting opinion in the Court of Appeals.

I think the majority errs in construing this will by focusing
on whether Item Four, standing alone, is ambiguous. This is not
the question. The question is whether the will, read as a whole,
creates an ambiguity with regard to the testator’s intent in
disposing of the remainder interest in the real property in the
event his wife, but not his mother, should predecease him. I think
there is an ambiguity. Item Three of the will makes it clear that
the testator intended for his mother only to have a life estate in
the property. Item Four expresses the testator's intent in the
event both his wife and mother should predecease him. In that
event he desired plaintiffs to have the remainder interest togeth-
er with all other property which he owned. The testator did not
express himself with regard to his intent in the event his wife,
but not his mother, predeceased him.

As Judge Whichard pointed out in his dissent, the will is sub-
ject to two interpretations. One is that the testator’s mother
should have only a life interest in the property and the remainder
interest should lapse and pass under the residuary clause. The
second is that the remainder should lapse and pass as an in-
testacy.

Where a will is subject to two interpretations, the one favor-
ing complete testacy should prevail. Ferguson v. Ferguson, 225
N.C. 375, 35 S.E. 2d 231 (1945); Coddington v. Stone, 217 N.C. 714,
9 S.E. 2d 420 (1940).

My vote, therefore, is to reverse the Court of Appeals and to
sustain the judgment of the trial court.
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA, ex rer. UTILITIES COMMISSION; DUKE
POWER COMPANY (ArpLicanT); NORTH CAROLINA PUBLIC INTEREST
RESEARCH GROUP; NORTH CAROLINA TEXTILE MANUFACTURERS
ASSOCIATION; PEOPLES ALLIANCE; ano PUBLIC STAFF, NORTH
CAROLINA UTILITIES COMMISSION v. CONSERVATION COUNCIL OF
NORTH CAROLINA; GREAT LAKES CARBON CORPORATION; anp KUD-
ZU ALLIANCE

No. 126A84
(Filed 2 October 1984)

1. Utilities Commission § 57— review of Utilities Commission decision — adequate
findings

In an order in a general rate case, the Utilities Commission’s recitation of

the factors in G.S. 62-133(b)1), its summarization and rejection of appellant’s

statutory interpretation arguments, and its conclusions that all of Duke’s

CWIP expenditures were reasonable, prudent, and needed to insure future

service to customers were adequate to meet the requirements of G.S. 62-79(a).

2. Utilities Commission § 34— findings not required for CWIP

The Utilities Commission is not required by G.S. 62-133(b)1) to make find-
ings on the need for construction before considering the reasonableness of
CWIP costs incurred where the Commission has already issued a certification
that “public convenience and necessity requires, or will require such construc-
tion"”; or findings that the construction will be completed within a rezsonable
time when there is evidence in the record that the plant would be completed
within a reasonable time and when there was no challenge to the
reasonableness of the prices paid by Duke.

3. Utilities Commission § 57— finding that construction work was in progress

The Utilities Commission’s finding and conclusion that construetion work
was in progress at Cherokee Nuclear Station and that the costs should be in-
cluded in Duke's rate base is supported by competent, material, and substan-
tial evidence in that delay in the construction of Cherokee was due to
economic conditions, in that Duke intended to complete Cherokee once its
financial circumstances permitted, and in that the Commission was aware of
the possibility that uncertain economic conditions might force Duke to cancel
Cherokee.

4. Utilities Commission § 34— AFUDC — exclusion from CWIP — capitalization
In a general rate case in which the allowance for funds used during con-
struction, AFUDC, was entered on Duke Power Company’s books after 1 July
1979, the effective date for construction work in progress, G.S. 62-133(b)(1), but
had accrued on construction work prior to that date, the Utilities Commission
erred by including the AFUDC in the rate base as a CWIP expense. However,
the AFUDC amount may be capitalized.

5. Utilities Commission §§ 21, 51— power of the Supreme Court to order refunds

The power given a court reviewing an order of the Utilities Commission
under G.S. 92-94(b} includes the power to order refunds, even though such
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authority is not specifically set out in the statute, because ratepayers would
otherwise lack adequate relief while utilities could retain the proceeds of illeg-
ally charged rates; moreover, refunds ordered by the Supreme Court do not
constitute retroactive ratemaking because rates ordered by the Utilities Com-
mission in an order in which the Commission made an error of law are not
lawfully established until the appellate courts have made a final ruling.

6. Utilities Commission § 38— improper use of prior expedited fuel cost pro-
ceeding to determine base rates

In a general rate case, the Court of Appeals properly remanded the case
to the Utilities Commission where the Commission relied on a prior expedited
fuel cost proceeding under G.S. 62-134(e} in determining Duke’s base fuel cost
because an expedited fuel proceeding considers fluctuations in fuel costs and
not the reasonableness of the utility’s base fuel cost.

APPEAL by Great Lakes Carbon Corporation and the Kudzu
Alliance pursuant to G.S. TA-30(3) (repealed 1983) from the deci-
sion of the Court of Appeals at 64 N.C. App. 266, 307 S.E. 2d 375
(1983), modified on rehearing, 66 N.C. App. 456, 311 S.E. 2d 617
(1984), affirming in part and remanding in part the order of the
North Carolina Utilities Commission entered 11 February 1982 in
Docket No. E-7, Sub. 314. Heard in the Supreme Court 11 June
1984.

On 18 March 1981, Duke Power Company, the applicant-
appellee (hereinafter Duke), filed with the North Carolina Utilities
Commission (hereinafter Commission) an application to increase
its revenues by approximately 19.7% or $211,000,000. The Com-
mission ordered that the application be treated as a general rate
case and suspended the proposed rate increase. The matter was
set for hearing and public hearings were conducted at several
locations across the State. Various parties, including the ap-
pellants and the Public Staff of the Commission were permitted
to intervene. The Commission issued its final order on 11
February 1982 allowing $166,403,000 of the proposed increase ap-
plied for by Duke. After considering data from a test year ending
31 December 1980 the Commission decided that an increase of
11.92% would provide a fair rate of return for Duke. Intervenors
Kudzu Alliance (hereinafter Kudzu), Conservation Council of
North Carolina, and Great Lakes Carbon Corporation (hereinafter
Great Lakes) appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed the deci-
sion of the Commission in all respects except with regard to
whether there was sufficient evidence in the record as to the
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reasonableness of Duke’s fuel costs. The court remanded the case
on that issue for further findings of fact.

Intervenors Kudzu and Great Lakes appealed the decision of
the Court of Appeals.

Duke Power Company by Steve C. Griffith, Jr. and George
W. Ferguson, Jr., Kennedy, Covington, Lobdell & Hickman by
Clarence W. Walker, Stephen K. Rhyne, and Myles E. Standish,
attorneys for applicant-appellee Duke Power Company.

Byrd, Byrd, Ervin, Blanton, Whisnant & McMahon, P.A., by
Robert B. Byrd and Sam J. Ervin IV, attorneys for intervenor-
appellant Great Lakes Carbon Corporation.

Edelstein, Payne and Jordan, by M. Travis Payne, attorney
for intervenor-appellant Kudzu Alliance.

COPELAND, Justice.
1.

Appellants argue that the Commission erred in including the
sum of $144,841,000 in Duke’s retail rate base for construction
work in progress (hereinafter CWIP) because its findings on this
matter were inadequate as a matter of law. Appellants base their
argument on both G.S. § 62-79(a) and G.S. § 62-133(b)(1) (1977)
(amended 1981). Each statute will be considered separately.

[11 G.S. § 62-79(a} provides that:

All final orders and decisions of the Commission shall be
sufficient in detail to enable the court on appeal to determine
the controverted questions presented in the proceedings and
shall include:

(1) Findings and conclusions and the reasons or bases
therefor upon all the material issues of fact, law, or
discretion presented in the record, and

(2) The appropriate rule, order, sanction, relief or statement
of denial thereof.

The appellants contend that the final order of the Commis-
sion falls short of this standard because its finding of Fact
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Number 7 is simply a recitation of the factors in G.S. § 62-133
(b)(1).! We disagree.

The purpose of the findings required by G.S. § 62-79(a) is to
provide the reviewing court with sufficient information to allow it
to determine the controverted questions presented in the pro-
ceedings. In the section of its order entitled “Evidence and Con-
clusions for Finding of Fact No. 7’ the Commission summarized
and rejected the statutory interpretation arguments made by the
appellants. The Commission then concluded that all of Duke’s
CWIP expenditures, in particular those for the Cherokee plant
and allowance for funds used during construction accrued after 1
July 1979, were reasonable and prudent expenditures under G.S.
§ 62-133(b)1). The Commission further concluded that the expen-
ditures were needed to insure adequate service to Duke’s
customers in the future. The Court of Appeals properly noted
that such scant findings and conclusions barely pass muster. State
ex rel. Utilities Commission v. Conservation Council, 64 N.C. App.
at 2783, 307 S.E. 2d at 379. We do not approve the practice of us-
ing such sparse evidence and conclusions to support the Commis-
sion’s findings of fact, but we hold that they were adequate to
meet the requirements of G.S. § 62-79(a). The Commission’s sum-
mary of the appellant’s argument and its rejection of the same is
sufficient to enable the reviewing court to ascertain the con-
troverted questions presented in the proceeding. That is all that
G.S. § 62-79(a) requires.

[2] A somewhat more difficult issue is posed by appellants’ con-
tention that G.S. § 62-133(b)1) first requires the Commission to
make findings on the reasonableness and prudence of including
CWIP expenses in the rate base before it considers the reason-
ableness of the CWIP costs incurred. G.S. § 62-133(b)(1) as it read
at the relevant time provides that the Commission shall:

Ascertain the reasonable original cost of the public utility’s
property used and useful, or to be used and useful within a

1. 7. The reasonable original cost of Duke's property used and useful, or to be
used and useful within a reasonable time after the test period, in providing the
service rendered to the public within this State, less that portion of the cost which
has been consumed by previous use recovered by depreciation expense, plus the
reasonable original cost of investment in plant under construction (construction
work in progress of CWIP) less cost-free capital is $2,138,009,000.
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reasonable time after the test period, in providing the service
rendered to the public within this State . . . . In ascertaining
the cost of the public utility’s property, construction work in
progress as of the effective date of this subsection shall be
excluded until such plant comes into service but reasonable
and prudent expenditures for construction work in progress
after the effective date of this subsection shall be included
subject to the provisions of subparagraph (b)5¥ of this sec-
tion.

Appellants argue that before the Commission may include CWIP
expenses in the rate base it must first find that the plant under
construction is necessary and will be completed in a reasonable
time.

We hold that G.S. § 62-133(b)(1) does not require the Commis-
sion to make new findings on the need for the construction.
Before any public utility begins the construction of a facility for
generating electricity for use by the public it must first obtain
from the Commission a certificate stating that “public conven-
ience and necessity requires, or will require such construction.”
G.S. § 62-110.1(a). Before such a certificate can be granted the ap-
plicant must file an estimate of construction costs and the Com-
mission must hold public hearings. G.S. § 62-110.1(e). This
procedure satisfies appellant’s argument that the construction
must be necessary.

The wording used by the legislature makes it clear that the
Commission must include all reasonable CWIP expenditures in
the rate base. The only matter left to the discretion of the Com-
mission is whether such expenditures are reasonable and prudent.
Evidence of whether the plant under construction will be com-
pleted within a reasonable time is pertinent to deciding if expen-
ditures for such construction are reasonable and prudent. While it
is the better practice for the Commission to specifically find that
the construction will be completed within a reasonable time, the
statute does not require it so long as there is evidence in the
record that the plant would be completed within a reasonable

2. The reference to subsection (bX5) in the Michie Company version of the
General Statutes appears to be a typographical error even though it is confirmed
by 1977 N.C. Sess. Laws ¢. 691, s. 2. The reference should be to G.S. § 62-133(b)
(4a).
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time. There was sufficient evidence in the record to allow the
Commission to conclude that the Cherokee units would be com-
pleted within a reasonable time. We are not persuaded by the ap-
pellants’ argument that the Commission must make findings as to
the cost of each project and when it will be needed. Nowhere in
G.S. § 62-133(b)(1) is there such a requirement. To require such ex-
tensive evidence would put an undue burden on Duke and cause
the ratemaking process to be more time consuming and difficult
of administration.

Costs are presumed to be reasonable unless challenged.
Utilities Commission v. Intervenor Residents, 305 N.C. 62, 76-77,
286 S.E. 2d 770, 779 (1982), and there was no challenge to the
reasonableness of the prices paid by Duke. Further, the Commis-
sion found that Duke’s construction expenditures were reasonably
incurred and were needed to provide adequate electric service to
its customers. The Commission’s findings on this point are sup-
ported by competent, material, and substantial evidence and are
conclusive on appeal. Utilities Commission v. Intervenor Rest
dents, 3056 N.C. at 77, 286 S.E. 2d at 779.

II.

[81 We next turn to the portion of CWIP expenditures
($103,880,000) related to the Cherokee Nuclear Station. G.S.
§ 62-133(b)(1) requires that expenses added to the rate base to
represent the costs of construction must come from construction
work that is in progress. Appellants argue that work had ceased
on Cherokee by the time the hearings were held because Duke
had indefinitely delayed construction and had no target date for
completion. Work on unit two had been terminated and work on
unit one was reduced to a bare minimum. Also, Duke’s witness
acknowledged that the company had not yet decided whether the
Cherokee plant would be completed. However, Duke did offer
evidence tending to show that the delay was due to the uncertain
economic conditions in 1981, including Duke’s financial cir-
cumstances, and that the Cherokee units were needed to provide
Duke’s customer’s with an adequate reserve margin. Approx-
imately 166 people were still working on Cherokee unit one, no
contracts had been cancelled, and Duke’s vice president assured
the Commission that Duke intended to complete Cherokee. The
Commission considered this evidence and included the costs of
Cherokee as a CWIP expenditure.
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We note that before this appeal reached the Court of Appeals
Duke had abandoned the Cherokee Nuclear Station. G.S. § 62-93
provides that a reviewing court may, in its discretion, remand a
case for further consideration by the Commission if evidence has
been discovered since the hearing before the Commission “that
could not have been obtained for use at that hearing by the exer-
cise of reasonable diligence, and will materially affect the merits
of the case, . . .” The question before the Commission to which
this evidence applies is whether the construction done at Chero-
kee Nuclear Station was in progress during the test year ending
31 December 1980. After considering the evidence we hold that
the subsequent cancellation of Cherokee does not materially af-
fect the Commission’s determination that the Cherokee Nuclear
Station was construction work in progress during the test year.
Therefore, we decline to remand the case for further considera-
tion of this issue.

The validity of the Commission’s findings and conclusions
must be determined in light of the evidence that was presented to
it. There was evidence before the Commission from which it could
reasonably conclude that the delay in the construction of Chero-
kee was due to economic conditions and that Duke intended to
complete Cherokee once its financial circumstances enabled it to
do so. The Commission was also made aware of the possibility
that the uncertain economic conditions prevailing at the time
might force Duke to cancel Cherokee. Further, the Court of Ap-
peals correctly pointed out that Duke’s failure to specify a
definite completion date is irrelevant because the statute does not
require it. Based on a review of the entire record, we hold that
the Commission’s finding and conclusion that construction work
was in progress at Cherokee and that the costs should be includ-
ed in Duke’s rate base is supported by competent, material, and
substantial evidence and so is binding on this Court. Utilities
Commassion v. Intervenor Residents, 305 N.C. at 76-77, 286 S.E.

2d at 779.
IIIL.

[4] Appellants next argue that the Commission erred in in-
cluding in Duke’s rate base $29,685,371 of allowance for funds
used during construction (hereinafter AFUDC) which was entered
on Duke’s books after 1 July 1979 but accrued on construction



66 IN THE SUPREME COURT [812

State ex rel. Utilities Comm. v. Conservation Council

work that occurred prior to that date. CWIP expenses that occur
before 1 July 1979 are to be excluded from the rate base until
such plant comes into service. G.S. § 62-133(b)(1). Appellants argue
that the $29,685,371 AFUDC occurred before 1 July 1979 and so is
not includable as a CWIP expense.

For a better understanding of this issue a brief explanation
of AFUDC is in order. Before the 1977 amendment of G.S.
§ 62-133(b)(1), utilities were not allowed to include CWIP in their
rate base. Instead, a utility would add together all of the costs in-
curred by a project each year and multiply that by the AFUDC
rate. The AFUDC rate is a rate of interest which represents as
nearly as possible the actual cost of money used for construction.
The figure that results from multiplying the costs times the
AFUDC rate is capitalized annually until the plant comes into
service and is then recovered along with the original costs of the
plant.

Appellants contend that the AFUDC expenses in question
are not includable for several reasons. First, AFUDC expenses in
North Carolina have not been recoverable in the past until the
plant they are related to has actually gone into service. Second,
CWIP under G.S. § 62-133(b)(1) only includes expenditures for con-
struction work that is in progress after the effective date of the
statute. Third, G.S. § 62-133(b)4a) forbids capitalization of AFUDC
once a general rate is set after 1 July 1979. We agree that the
$29,685,371 AFUDC is not properly includable in the rate base as
a CWIP expense.

Prior to the effective date of the statute AFUDC was treated
as a part of the cost of the plant. As Justice Lake stated in
Utilities Commission v. Morgan, 278 N.C. 235, 240, 179 S.E. 2d
419, 422 (1971): “The interest on the investment in this addition to
plant, during the construction, is a part of its costs, just as truly
as is the purchase price of the bricks, steel, copper wire, labor,
ete., which go into the construction.” While we have already held
that the $29,685,371 AFUDC is not properly includable as a CWIP
expense, G.S. § 62-133(b)(4a) does not bar Duke from capitalizing
the AFUDC despite the fact that it was not actually entered on
Duke's books until after the effective date of the statute. The pur-
pose of G.S. § 62-133(b)4a) is to prevent utility companies from ob-
taining a double recovery by capitalizing AFUDC after they have
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had CWIP expenses for the same construction included in the
rate base. In the case at bar no CWIP expenses can be added to
the rate base for the construction on which the $29,685,371
AFUDC had accrued. If Duke were not allowed to capitalize the
$29,685,371 AFUDC it would be unable to ever recover that part
of its costs. We hold that G.S. § 62-133 (bX4a) does not require
such a result. On remand the Court of Appeals will direct the
Commission to reduce Duke's CWIP expenses by $29,685,371 and
order Duke to make appropriate refunds. Duke may enter the
$29,685,371 on its books as AFUDC on construction that occurred
before 1 July 1979.

Iv.

[5] The final issue in this case briefed and argued by the parties
concerns this Court’s power to direct the Commission to order
refunds from rates established by final order of the Commission.
Duke argues that such refunds cannot be granted because to do
so would constitute retroactive rate making prohibited under the
North Carolina Statutes. We hold that the law is otherwise and
affirm this Court’s power to direct the Commission to order
refunds.

“[Rletroactive rate making occurs when, . . . the utility is re-
quired to refund revenues collected, pursuant to the then lawfully
established rates, for such past use.” Utilities Comm. v. Ed-
misten, 291 N.C. 451, 468, 232 S.E. 2d 184, 194 (1977). The key
phrase here is “lawfully established rates.” A rate has not been
lawfully established simply because the Commission has ordered
it. If the Commission makes an error of law in its order from
which there is a timely appeal the rates put into effect by that
order have not been “lawfully established” until the appellate
courts have made a final ruling on the matter.

Duke contends that the statutes limit any relief that this
Court might give to prospective relief. In support Duke relies on
the dichotomy between rates fixed by the Commission and those
which are simply allowed to go into effect. Rates established by
the Commission are deemed to be just and reasonable. G.S.
§ 62-132. Rates which the Commission simply allows to go into ef-
fect may be challenged by interested parties or the Commission,
and after a hearing the Commission may order a refund if it finds
the rates to be different from those established by the Commis-
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sion and unjust or unreasonable. Utilities Comm. v. Edmisten, 291
N.C. 327, 352, 230 S.E. 2d 651, 666 (1976).

Duke concedes that G.S. §§ 62-130(e), 132 and 136 grant
specific authority to the Commission to order refunds. However,
Duke argues that G.S. § 62-94 which sets out the extent of ap-
pellate review prevents this Court from ordering refunds because
it does not specifically grant such authority. G.S. § 62-94(b) gives
the reviewing court the power to affirm, reverse, remand, or
modify the order of the Commission if the substantial rights of
the appellants have been prejudiced. This Court has often
ordered refunds in the past, State ex rel. Utilities Commission v.
Public Staff, 309 N.C. 195, 306 S.E. 2d 435 (1983); Utilities Comm.
v. Edmisten, 299 N.C. 432, 263 S.E. 2d 583 (1980); State ex rel
Utilities Comm. v. Edmisten, 291 N.C. 451, 232 S.E. 2d 184 (1977),
and we hold that G.S. § 62-94(b) gives this Court ample basis for
ordering refunds to ratepayers who have been charged unlawfully
high rates. To hold otherwise would deny ratepayers who appeal
from erroneous orders of the Commission adequate relief while
allowing utilities to retain the proceeds of rates that were illegal-
ly charged. It defies common sense to believe that the Legislature
intended such a result. We, therefore, hold that this Court is
authorized to order refunds when the Commission has made an
error of law in its rate making procedures.

V.

[6] We next turn to the Commission’s determination of Duke’s
reasonable operating expenses as required by G.S. § 62-133.
Neither party has argued this issue, but we will address it
because of Chief Judge Vaughn's dissent. In determining Duke’s
base fuel cost the Commission relied on a fuel cost previously set
in an expedited fuel cost proceeding pursuant to G.S. § 62-134(e)
(Supp. 1979) (repealed 1982). In the expedited fuel cost proceeding
the Commission had set Duke's fuel costs at 1.4660 cents per
kWh. In its order the Commission reduced the base fuel cost to
1.3093 cents per kWh by subtracting .1567 cents kWh for fuel sav-
ings related to the operation of the McGuire unit from the 1.4660
cents per kWh cost. The Public Staff's recommended fuel cost
was also based on a G.S. § 62-134(e) proceeding. There was some
testimony concerning the reasonableness of Duke's fuel costs in-
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curred over the twelve month test period, but there is no indica-
tion in the Commission’s order that it ever ruled on the reason-
ableness of the fuel costs. The Court of Appeals remanded the
case for further findings on the reasonableness of Duke’s fuel
costs because the absence of proper findings frustrates appellate
review. G.S. § 62-94(b)(4). We agree.

The purpose of the expedited fuel proceeding was to allow a
utility to change its rates based solely on fluctuations in fuel
costs. The reasonableness of the utility’s base fuel costs are not to
be considered. Utilities Commission v. Public Staff, 309 N.C. at
212, 306 S.E. 2d at 445. On the other hand, in a general rate case
brought under G.S. § 62-133(b)3) the Commission must determine
the reasonableness of fuel costs. The Commission’s findings are
inadequate to do so in this case. The Commission simply accepted
the fuel cost established in the G.S. § 62-134(e) proceeding before
adjusting it to reflect savings resulting from the operation of
MecGuire. Based on our decision in State ex rel. Utilities Commis-
ston v. N.C. Textile Mfrs. Ass'n, 309 N.C. 238, 306 S.E. 2d 113
(1983) (per curiam) we affirm the Court of Appeals’ decision to re-
mand the case for a determination of whether there is sufficient
evidence of reasonableness on which to base new findings on the
proper level of fuel expenses to be included in Duke’s rates. If
there is not sufficient evidence in the record on which to base
new findings, the Commission may reopen the hearing and take
additional evidence on the reasonableness of Duke's fuel costs
over the twelve month test period.

VI
Lastly, we note that the portion of the Court of Appeals’
opinion dealing with the inclusion of McGuire Unit One in the

rate base and the separate hearing concerning McGuire has not
been challenged by any of the parties. We find no error on these

points.
The decision of the Court of Appeals is

Affirmed in part and reversed in part.
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JOHN STERLING GARDNER

No. 207A84
(Filed 2 October 1984)

1. Criminal Law § 138 — Fair Sentencing Act-—sentencing hearing — finding of
statutory mitigating factor not requested by defendant

The court erred in a sentencing hearing when it failed to find a mitigating
factor specifically listed in N.C. G.S. 15A-1340.4(a)(2), even though defendant
did not request that finding, when all of the substantial, uncontradicted and
manifestly credible evidence supported a finding that the defendant voluntari-
ly acknowledged wrongdoing in connection with the offense to a law enforce-
ment officer.

2. Criminal Law § 138 — Fair Sentencing Act—non-statutory mitigating factors
not submitted by defendant

The trial judge is not required to consider whether the evidence supports
the existence of non-statutory mitigating factors in the absence of specific re-
quest by defense counsel.

APPEAL by defendant from Judge Helms at the 28 November
1983 Criminal Session of ROWAN Superior Court.

Defendant was charged in a bill of indictment with the first
degree murder of Ray Eugene Shaver. He entered a plea of guilty
to second degree murder.

At trial the State introduced evidence tending to show that
in February 1983 Captain of Detectives Glenn A. Sides of the
Rowan County Sheriff's Department received information that
Defendant Gardner, who was confined in Forsyth County jail on
an unrelated charge, wished to talk about the murder of Ray
Eugene Shaver. Shaver had been killed in Rowan County on 17
December 1982 and at the time Gardner expressed his desire to
speak with Rowan County police officers about the crime, they
had no suspects.

Defendant made two inculpatory statements to Captain Sides
in February 1983 and still another statement in September 1983.
Each of these statements varied factually but each placed defend-
ant at the scene of the murder as an aider and abettor in the
felony of armed robbery.

The State also offered evidence of defendant’s past eriminal
record which consisted of a misdemeanor breaking and entering
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in 1976, three counts of breaking or entering into a motor vehicle
in 1978, felonious breaking or entering into a building in 1978, two
counts of felonious escape in 1978, a conviction of armed robbery
in 1983 and two counts of murder in the first degree in 1983.

Defendant’s evidence consisted of a statement made by his
attorney. The attorney said defendant had told him that the
original statement he made to Rowan County police officers was
true. Defendant also told his attorney he would thereafter testify
in court against the parties named in that statement as par-
ticipants in the crime which resulted in Mr. Shaver’s death.

The trial judge found as a single aggravating factor that the
defendant had a prior conviction or convictions for criminal of-
fenses punishable by more than 60 days’ confinement. He found
no mitigating factors. After finding that the aggravating factor
was proven by a preponderance of the evidence and that it
outweighed the factors in mitigation, the trial court entered judg-
ment imposing a sentence of life imprisonment.

Rufus L. Edmisten, Attorney General, by John R. B. Matthis,
Special Deputy Attorney General, and Alan S. Hirsch, Assistant
Attorney General, for the State.

M. Bays Shoaf, for defendant-appellant.

BRANCH, Chief Justice.

[1] Defendant assigns as error the failure of the trial judge, ex
mero motu, to find as a mitigating factor that prior to arrest,